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Mr. Yang Haoying (Chief Operating Officer)
(appointed on 20 October 2016)
Ms. Chow Mun Yee
Mr. Wang Xiaodong (appointed on 20 October 2016)
Mr. Zhao Tong (appointed on 20 October 2016)
Mr. Lo Kan Sun (resigned on 25 January 2017)
Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei (resigned on 24 January 2017)
Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue (resigned on 25 January 2017)

Mr. Zhang Yongdong (appointed on 18 July 2016 and resigned on
25 January 2017)

Mr. Cheung Wing Ping

Mr. Fung Tze Wa (appointed on 25 January 2017)
Mr. Wu Keli (appointed on 20 October 2016)

Mr. Xu Zhiguang (appointed on 25 January 2017)
Mr. Chung Yuk Lun (resigned on 21 June 2016)
Mr. Hung Cho Sing (resigned on 25 January 2017)
Dr. Agustin V. Que (resigned on 25 January 2017)

Mr. Cheung Wing Ping*
(appointed as Chairman of the Audit Committee on 21 June 2016)
Mr. Fung Tze Wa (appointed on 25 January 2017)
Mr. Wu Keli (appointed on 20 October 2016)
Mr. Xu Zhiguang (appointed on 25 January 2017)
Mr. Chung Yuk Lun (resigned on 21 June 2016)
Mr. Hung Cho Sing (resigned on 25 January 2017)
Dr. Agustin V. Que (resigned on 25 January 2017)
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The Group’s consolidated net profit for the year was HK$418.2
million (2016: net loss of HK$377.5 million). The consolidated net
assets of the Group increased from HK$3,064.9 million as at 31
March 2016 to HK$3,465.8 million as at 31 March 2017. The
consolidated net profit was mainly attributable to (i) net realised
losses and net unrealised gains of investments at fair value through
profit or loss of HK$51.9 million and HK$193.8 million respectively;
(ii) a net gain on disposal of subsidiaries of HK$151.0 million; (iii)
recognition of a forfeited income of HK$150.0 million in relation to
a disposal of the entire interest in a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company; (iv) share of profits of a joint venture of HK$5.7 million;
and (v) share of losses of an associate of HK$33.5 million.

In March 2016, the Group and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Imagi
International Holdings Limited (whose shares are listed on the main
board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), stock code: 585) (“Imagi”) entered into a sale and
purchase agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement with
Imagi”), pursuant to which Imagi has conditionally agreed to
purchase the entire issued share capital in Smart Jump Corporation
at a total consideration of HK$1,800 million (the “Disposal to
Imagi”). Smart Jump Corporation and its subsidiaries (the “Smart
Jump Group”) are principally engaged in trading of securities.
Subsequently in early August 2016, conditions precedent to the Sale
and Purchase Agreement with Imagi became incapable of being
fulfilled and the Disposal to Imagi lapsed. The parties to the Sale and
Purchase Agreement with Imagi agreed to terminate the Sale and
Purchase Agreement with Imagi in accordance with its terms.
Accordingly, the Group recognised a forfeited income of HK$150
million during the current year.

In August 2016, the Group and a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of
Enerchina Holdings Limited (whose shares are listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 622) (“Enerchina”) entered
into another sale and purchase agreement (the “Sale and Purchase
Agreement with Enerchina”), pursuant to which Enerchina has
conditionally agreed to purchase the entire issued share capital in
Smart Jump Corporation at a total consideration of HK$1,295 million
(the "Disposal to Enerchina”). The Disposal to Enerchina was
approved by the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
at the extraordinary general meeting held on 22 November 2016.
The Disposal to Enerchina was completed in December 2016.

As at the date of this annual report, the Group has received HK$495
million out of the total consideration of HK$1,295 million from
Enerchina and has utilised the amount received as intended to
securities trading business, making strategic investments and other
general working capital.
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In September 2016, the change of the English name of the Company
from “Freeman Financial Corporation Limited” to “Freeman FinTech
Corporation Limited” and change of dual foreign name of the
Company from "RRERIERER QA" to "ERESREHIERER
A |]", was approved by the Shareholders at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 13 September 2016. A copy of the
certificate of incorporation on change of name dated 13 September
2016 issued by the Registrar of Companies of the Cayman Islands
was received by the Company on 21 September 2016. The Company
completed the necessary filing procedures with the Companies
Registry in Hong Kong and the registration of the new dual foreign
name of the Company in Hong Kong under Part 16 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) was
confirmed by the Registrar of Companies in Hong Kong. With effect
from 20 October 2016, the shares of the Company was traded under
the new stock short name “FREEMAN FINTECH” in English and "&
BB in Chinese, instead of “FREEMAN FIN” in English and
"RAB&AR" in Chinese, on the Stock Exchange.

As at 31 March 2017, the Company has 1,376,551,640 First
Warrants and 688,275,820 Second Warrants outstanding. As a result
of the issue of the Convertible Notes in March 2016, the First
Subscription Price of the First Warrants was adjusted from HK$0.43
per Share to HK$0.382 per Share and the Second Subscription Price
of the Second Warrants was adjusted from HK$0.55 per Share to
HK$0.489 per Share. The net proceeds from the issue of the First
Warrants and Second Warrants of approximately HK$13 million have
been utilised as intended as general working capital for the Group.

In June 2017, all First Warrants were exercised by the warrant
holders and 1,376,551,640 Shares were issued. The net proceeds
from the issue of Shares upon exercise of First Warrants of
approximately HK$510 million have been utilised as intended for
additional funding to Freeman Securities Limited (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company principally engaged in securities
brokerage, placing, underwriting, margin financing, investment
holding and trading of securities) for business expansion and money
lending business. As at the date of this annual report, the
Company's total issued shares were 15,700,688,940 Shares.

Details in relation to placing of unlisted warrants under specific
mandates and the placing of convertible notes under specific
mandate and the capitalised terms in the above paragraphs were set
out in the Company’s circulars dated 9 June 2015 and 24 February
2016, respectively.
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As at 31 March 2017, the Group recorded an available-for-sale
investment of RMB525 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$631.7 million) representing 15% shareholding interests in
Shengang Securities Company Limited (the “Securities Company”).
The Securities Company has obtained a securities and futures
business license from the China Securities Regulatory Commission on
10 October 2016. The Securities Company has formally commenced
business in China (Shanghai) Pilot Free Trade Zone on 18 October
2016. The securities and futures business license allows the
Securities Company to engage in securities broking, securities
underwriting and sponsoring, securities trading and securities asset
management related businesses in China. As at the date of this
annual report, the Securities Company was still in preliminary stage
and did not have material impact on the earnings of the Group. The
commencement of business by the Securities Company is a new
milestone for the Group in the business development of its financial
services in China.

Details in relation to the investment in the Securities Company and
the capitalised terms in the above paragraph were set out and
defined in the announcements of the Company dated 12 November
2015, 2 December 2015, 3 December 2015, 16 March 2016, 31
March 2016, 1 April 2016 and 20 October 2016.

In September 2016, the Group entered into a conditional agreement
with an independent third party pursuant to which the Group agreed
to purchase the entire issued share capital of People Securities
Company Limited (“People Securities”), a Hong Kong private limited
company which is a licensed corporation carrying out businesses in
Type 1 (dealing in securities), 4 (advising on securities) and 9 (asset
management) regulated activities under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO") and also a member of Professional Insurance
Brokers Association of Hong Kong (the “Acquisition of People
Securities”) at a total consideration of HK$25 million aiming to
create a one-stop financial conglomerate to provide a comprehensive
range of financial services. As at the date of this annual report, the
Acquisition of People Securities was not yet completed.
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In September 2016, the Group entered into a conditional sale and
purchase agreement with two independent third parties (the
“Vendors"), pursuant to which the Vendors have agreed to sell and
the Group has agreed to acquire the entire issued share capital of
Elffey Finance Limited ("Elffey”) at a consideration of HK$295 million
(the “Acquisition of Elffey”) aiming to provide the Company with a
good business opportunity in the finance leasing and factoring
development in China, and allowing the Company to enhance the
overall competitiveness of the Group. Elffey is an investment holding
company holding a group of companies principally engaged in
finance leasing and factoring in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC"). The Acquisition of Elffey was completed in October 2016.

In December 2016, the Group entered into the Share Purchase
Agreement with the Seller Parties, pursuant to which the Group
conditionally agreed to purchase and the Sellers conditionally agreed
to sell, 67.1% equity interest in Wins Finance Holdings Inc. (“Wins")
at a consideration of the lower of (i) US$260,000,000; or (ii) the
adjusted purchase price (the “Acquisition of Wins”) aiming to extend
its financial services business in the PRC. Wins is an integrated
financing solution provider with operations located primarily in the
PRC. Wins is listed on NASDAQ. The principal business operations of
Wins include (i) facilitating the financing opportunities of enterprises
by acting as a guarantor to secure credit facilities from lending banks
and other financial institutions; (ii) providing direct equipment
leasing or purchase-lease back services to enterprises, to satisfy their
working capital needs; and (iii) providing financial advisory services.
As at the date of this annual report, the Acquisition of Wins was not
yet completed.

Details in relation to the Acquisition of Wins and the capitalised
terms in the above paragraph were set out and defined in the
circular of the Company dated 26 June 2017.

As at 31 March 2017, the Group held investment in an associate of
HK$663.5 million (31 March 2016: HK$707.3 million), representing
approximately 30.44% (31 March 2016: 31.83%) shareholding
interests in Freewill Holdings Limited and 19.1% (31 March 2016:
23.1%) of the Group's net assets. Freewill Holdings Limited is
principally engaged in investment holding. The Group shared losses
of HK$33.5 million from an associate for the year (2016: HK$195.9
million).
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As at 31 March 2017, the Group held investments at fair value
through profit or loss of HK$362.1 million (31 March 2016:
HK$1,235.1 million), representing 10.4% (31 March 2016: 40.3%)
of the Group’s net assets of HK$3,465.8 million (31 March 2016:
HK$3,064.9 million). The Group held a diversified portfolio of listed
investments throughout the year. As at 31 March 2017, the Group
mainly held listed securities of China All Access (Holdings) Limited
("All Access”, whose shares are listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 633) with a carrying value of HK$356.1
million, representing 10.3% of Group's net assets and 8.08% of All
Access's total issued shares.

As at 31 March 2016, the Group mainly held listed securities of
HengTen Networks Group Limited (“HengTen”, whose shares are
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 136)
with a carrying value of HK$761.0 million, representing
approximately 24.8% of the Group’s net assets and approximately
2.8% of HengTen'’s total issued shares.

All Access and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the
provision of communication application solutions and services and
investment activities. HengTen and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in internet community services, investment and trading of
securities, property investment and manufacture and sales of
accessories for photographic and electrical products.

Other listed investments are individually carrying at value less than
5% of the Group’s net assets as at 31 March 2017 and 31 March
2016.

The Group recorded net unrealised gains of investments at fair value
through profit or loss of HK$193.8 million (2016: HK$144.7 million)
for the year, of which included net unrealised losses of HK$74.2
million (2016: Nil) for investments in listed securities of All Access for
the year.

In view of the stock market volatility and general trading sentiment
since April 2016, the Group realised its investments in listed
securities with a carrying value of HK$691.7 million for aggregate
gross proceeds of HK$639.8 million, resulting net realised losses of
investments at fair value through profit or loss of HK$51.9 million
for the current year, of which included disposals of listed securities
of All Access at gross proceeds of HK$100.0 million and net realised
losses of HK$2.5 million were recorded for the year. The proceeds
from disposals of listed investments have been applied towards
expansion of the Group's existing business lines and general working
capital purposes.
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For the year ended 31 March 2016, the Group also realised its
investments in listed securities at market sentiment with carrying
value of HK$3,539.9 million for aggregate gross proceeds of
HK$3,185.8 million, resulting net realised losses of investments at
fair value through profit or loss of HK$354.1 million.

The Group resulted a gross profit for the year of HK$69.2 million
(2016: gross loss of HK$234.2 million). It was mainly due to the
decrease in net realised losses from the sale of investments at fair
value through profit and loss of approximately HK$51.9 million
(2016: HK$354.1 million). Dividend income from investments at fair
value through profit or loss decreased by approximately 6.3% to
HK$33.0 million as compared to HK$35.2 million in 2016, which is
mainly contributed by less dividends were received by the Group
from listed securities. Interest income from provision of finance
decreased by approximately 59.0% to HK$14.8 million as compared
to HK$36.1 million in 2016 as less loans were granted to customers
during the year. Insurance brokerage income significantly decreased
by approximately 52.7% to HK$36.1 million as compared to
HK$76.4 million in 2016 as the insurance brokerage segment was
still exploring market opportunities. Income from securities and
futures brokerage, placing, underwriting and margin financing
services, was HK$69.6 million, representing an increase of 23.4% as
compared to HK$56.4 million in 2016 as more sizable underwriting,
sub-underwriting, placing and sub-placing transactions were
undertaken during the current year. There was no corporate finance
advisory fee recorded for the year as a result of competitive market
of the industry.

Other income and gains increased to HK$327.6 million for the year
(2016: HK$94.3 million), which was mainly represented by a net gain
on disposal of subsidiaries, net of HK$151.0 million (2016: Nil) and
the recognition of a forfeited income of HK$150.0 million in relation
to a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company for the current year.
The Group also recorded significant net unrealised fair value gains on
investments at fair value through profit or loss of HK$193.8 million
for the year (2016: HK$144.7 million). The Group shared losses of
HK$33.5 million from an associate for the year (2016: HK$195.9
million) and also shared profits of HK$5.7 million from a joint
venture for the year (2016: losses of HK$20.0 million).

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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Cost saving is a continuous aim in monitoring daily operations by the
Group. This year, general and administrative expenses amounted to
HK$124.8 million, representing an increase of approximately 30.7%
as compared to HK$95.5 million in 2016 which was mainly due to
increase in employee benefit expenses of approximately HK$19.5
million (2016: HK$9.0 million) and increase in rental expenses for
leases of new office premises of HK$16.8 million (2016: HK$7.9
million). Finance costs increased by approximately 228.6% to
HK$29.9 million as compared to HK$9.1 million in 2016, as more
external borrowings were obtained during the year. Income tax credit
amounted to HK$10.0 million (2016: HK$27.2 million), mainly
represented the reversal of prior years’ overprovision of income tax
expense and deferred tax credit.

Net profit attributable to Shareholders for the year was HK$418.2
million (2016: net loss of HK$621.0 million). Earnings per share was
HK2.92 cents (31 March 2016: loss per share HK6.01 cents).

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: Nil).
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As at 31 March 2017, net current assets of the Group amounted to
HK$2,308.9 million (31 March 2016: HK$1,603.7 million) with cash
and bank balances of HK$614.9 million (31 March 2016: HK$209.0
million) and the current ratio (current assets/current liabilities) was
10.7 (31 March 2016: 7.3). The Group had secured other borrowings
of HK$902.0 million (31 March 2016: HK$71.4 million) and
unsecured other borrowing of HK$30.0 million (31 March 2016:
HK$10.0 million). Gearing ratio, calculated on the basis of the
Group's interest-bearing borrowings divided by the equity
attributable to owners of the Company was 26.9% (31 March 2016:
2.7%). The other borrowings of the Group carried floating interest
rates calculated by reference to the Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate (“HIBOR") or lender’s costs of funds were made in Hong Kong
dollar and United States dollar. The Group is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to Hong Kong dollar and United States dollar. As Hong Kong
dollar is pegged to United States dollar, the foreign exchange risk
exposures are considered limited. The Group did not have any
financial instruments used for hedging purpose.

The Group had capital commitments of approximately HK$5.3
million (31 March 2016: Nil) contracted but not provided for the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment as at 31 March 2017.
In light of the amount of liquid assets on hand and banking facilities
available, the Directors are of the view that the Group has sufficient
financial resources to meet its ongoing operational requirements.
The Group's assets portfolio is mainly financed by its shareholders’
funds. As at 31 March 2017, the Group had shareholders’ funds of
HK$3,465.8 million (31 March 2016: HK$3,064.9 million).

In May 2016, the Company issued two unsecured notes each with a
principal amount of HK$10 million to two independent third parties
named Ms. Huang Gunyun and Mr. Wang Guiyu with interest
bearing at 5% per annum payable annually in arrears for the
Group’s general working capital. Both notes are repayable in May
2023.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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In January 2017, the Company obtained a loan facility of HK$200
million with interest bearing at HIBOR plus 3.5% per annum,
repayable in January 2018, secured by certain investments at fair
value through profit or loss and guaranteed by Mr. Zhang Yongdong
("Mr. Zhang”), a substantial shareholder of the Company.

In March 2017, the Company obtained a loan facility of
approximately HK$702 million with interest bearing at rates ranging
from 7.5% to 8.0% per annum, repayable in March 2020, secured
by the shares in the capital of certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of
the Company and guaranteed by Mr. Zhang and his spouse.

As at 31 March 2017, investments at fair value through profit or loss
of HK$341.5 million (31 March 2016: HK$1,235.1 million) and the
shares in the capital of certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company were pledged to financial institutions to secure certain
facilities provided to the Group.

In June 2017, the Company entered into the Subscription Agreement
with the Subscriber in relation to the subscription of the Convertible
Bonds of the Company under General Mandate for 1,835,294,118
Conversion Shares at Conversation Price of HK$0.425 per
Conversion Share. The gross proceeds from the Subscription
amounted to approximately HK$780 million. As at the date of this
annual report, the Convertible Bonds in the principal amount of
US$100 million were issued by the Company to the Subscriber.
Details of the issue of Secured Convertible Bonds under General
Mandate and the capitalised terms in the above paragraph were set
out and defined in the announcements of the Company dated 6
June 2017 and 15 June 2017.

Details of material acquisitions/disposals during the year are set out
in the section “Business Review"”.

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had capital commitments of
approximately HK$5.3 million (31 March 2016: Nil) contracted but
not provided for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment.
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Reference was made to the announcement of the Company dated
26 May 2017, a petition has been issued to certain former directors
of the Company. The Group had no material contingent liabilities as
at 31 March 2017 (31 March 2016: Nil).

As at 31 March 2017, the Group employed 65 staff members
including directors of the Company (2016: 33 staff). Staff costs
incurred for the year, including directors’ remuneration, were
approximately HK$26.0 million (2016: HK$20.5 million). It was the
remuneration policy of the Group to reward its employees with
reference to their qualifications, experience and work performance
as well as market benchmarks. Remuneration packages, include
granting of share options, were structured to motivate individual
performance and contributions to the Group. The Company has
adopted a share option scheme and the Group operates a defined
contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for its
employees.

With the aim of creating a one-stop financial conglomerate in order
to provide a comprehensive range of financial services and to
enhance the overall competitiveness of the Group,

(i)  the Group has completed the Acquisition of Elffey, a wholly-
owned subsidiary which is an investment holding company
holding a group of companies principally engaged in finance
leasing and factoring in the PRC; and

(i) the Group is also in the process of acquiring 67.1% equity
interest in Wins Finance Holdings Inc., an integrated financing
solution provider listed on NASDAQ with operations located
primarily in the PRC.

With the Acquisition of Elffey and upon the completion of the
Acquisition of Wins, the Group targets to expand its finance leasing
and factoring business and share the growth of financial leasing
industry to small and medium size enterprises in the PRC, and
complement to the existing lending business in order to enhance
values to the Shareholders.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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The Directors would like to take this opportunity express its gratitude
and appreciation to all shareholders, business partners, banks,
professional parties and employees of the Company for their
continuous contributions and support to the Group.

By Order of the Board
Freeman FinTech Corporation Limited

Yang Haoying
Chief Operating Officer

Hong Kong, 29 June 2017
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Mr. Yang Haoying (“Mr. Yang"”), aged 38, joined the Company in
August 2016 and was appointed as Executive Director in October
2016 and re-designated as Chief Operating Officer in January 2017.
Mr. Yang currently also serves as the Chief Investment Officer and a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Yang holds a
Master’s degree in IMBA (Financial) from Shanghai Jiaotong
University and a Bachelor’'s degree in Mechanical Engineering and
Automation from lJilin University in China. Mr. Yang has over 12
years of experience in corporate finance, asset management and
private equity in Hong Kong and China. Mr. Yang led the private
equity department Shenzhen team in Pingan Trust Co., Ltd, and
served as a managing director of the private equity department in an
asset management company.

Ms. Chow Mun Yee (“"Ms. Chow"), aged 41, joined the Company's
accounts and company secretarial department in December 2010
and was appointed as Executive Director in February 2011. Ms.
Chow is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and holds a Bachelor (Hons) degree
in Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong. Ms. Chow was also appointed as Company Secretary in March
2011. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Chow has over 13 years of
experience in accounting and auditing at an international accounting
firm and has extensive experience in financial services, investment
and property development.

Mr. Wang Xiaodong (“Mr. Wang"), aged 30, joined the Company
in September 2016. Mr. Wang was appointed as Executive Director
in October 2016. Mr. Wang currently serves as the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company and a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Wang holds a Bachelor’'s degree in Finance from
Shanghai University of Finance and Economics and attained
professional stage of the National Uniform CPA Examination of
China. Mr. Wang has over 7 years of experience in auditing,
investment, corporate merger and acquisition and capital market
financing. Mr. Wang started his career in PricewaterhouseCoopers
and has subsequently held various managerial and senior executive
positions in the investment arm of several listed companies in Hong
Kong.

Mr. Zhao Tong (“Mr. Zhao"), aged 34, joined the Company in
September 2016 and was appointed as Executive Director in October
2016. Mr. Zhao holds a Bachelor’s degree in Finance from the
University of Manchester, United Kingdom. Mr. Zhao has over 10
years of experience in finance, investment, asset management and
risk management in Hong Kong and the United Kingdom. Mr. Zhao
started his career in FTSE Group, United Kingdom in 2006 and joined
J.P. Morgan Asset Management in 2012 and held various managerial
positions.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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Mr. Cheung Wing Ping (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 50, was appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in August
2013. Mr. Cheung has over 20 years of experience in auditing and
accounting fields. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Accountancy with
honours from City University of Hong Kong and is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Mr. Fung Tze Wa (“Mr. Fung”), aged 60, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in January
2017. Mr. Fung is a certified public accountant and a director of an
accounting firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Fung has many years of
experience in auditing, taxation and company secretarial practice in
Hong Kong. He obtained a master degree in professional accounting
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2000. He is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, The Taxation
Institute of Hong Kong and The Society of Chinese Accountants and
Auditors.

Mr. Wu Keli (“"Mr. Wu"), aged 49, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in October
2016. Mr. Wu holds a Master’s degree and a Bachelor’s degree in
Economics from the Capital University of Economics and Business in
China. Mr. Wu has extensive experience in the regulation and
development of the financial services industry in China. Mr. Wu
started his career in the China Securities Regulatory Commission and
served in various supervisory divisions, including public offering
supervision and fund and intermediary supervision. Mr. Wu then
joined Zhengzhou Commodity Exchange in China and held
management positions overseeing new contract listing, market and
strategy development of futures and commodity options. Mr. Wu
then moved to Henan Rail Group Company Limited* (7 & FF I5 &£ &
BR/AT]), a company engaged in large scale commodity supply
chain trading and financing, and served as Deputy Chairman and
Chief Risk Officer. Since 2015, Mr. Wu has served as an executive
director of Foretrade Investment Management Company* (iR % &8
A E AR, responsible for its whole operation.

Mr. Xu Zhiguang (“Mr. Xu"), aged 52, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in January
2017. Mr. Xu holds a bachelor’s degree and a master degree in
Economic Law from China University of Political Science and Law.
Mr. Xu is a partner of a law firm in China. Mr. Xu has many years of
experience in securities and corporate merger and acquisitions legal
practice. Mr. Xu obtained China lawyer qualification and securities
legal services qualification in China. Mr. Xu is currently listed on the
Panel of Arbitrators of South China International Economic and
Trade Arbitration Commission/Shenzhen Court of International
Arbitration and the Panel of Mediators of Mediation Center of South
China International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission/
Mediation Center of Shenzhen Court of International Arbitration.

* for identification purpose only
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The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) has always
valued transparency and accountability as the keys for achieving a
high standard of corporate governance, earning the confidence of
shareholders of the Company and the public.

The Company has adopted the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “"CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its own code on
corporate governance practices. Save as disclosed below, in the
opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with the code
provisions as set out in the CG Code and there have been no
material deviations from the CG Code during the year:

Code Provision A.2.1. = The Company did not have a Chairman of
the Board (the “Chairman”) since the resignation of Mr. Zhang
Yongdong on 25 January 2017. The Board has commenced the
process of conducting an executive search for an appropriate
candidate both from within the Company as well as externally to act
as the new Chairman. In the meantime, Mr. Yang Haoying, the Chief
Operating Officer of the Company has tentatively taken up the role
of the Chairman.

Code Provision A.6.7. — (i) Two Executive Directors and one Non-
executive Director were unable to attend the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 7 September 2016; (ii) one Executive
Director, one Non-executive Director and one Independent Non-
executive Director were unable to attend the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 13 September 2016; and (iii) two
Executive Directors, one Non-executive Director and one Independent
Non-executive Director were unable to attend the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 22 November 2016, as
they had other engagements.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiry with all Directors, the Company confirmed that throughout
the year, all Directors have complied with the required standards set
out in the Model Code.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises four
Executive Directors, namely Mr. Yang Haoying, Ms. Chow Mun
Yee, Mr. Wang Xiaodong and Mr. Zhao Tong, and four
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Wing
Ping, Mr. Fung Tze Wa, Mr. Wu Keli and Mr. Xu Zhiguang.
Director’s biographical details are set out in the Biographical
Details of Directors on pages 16 to 17.

Pursuant to the relevant requirement under the Listing Rules,
the changes in Director’s information since 1 April 2016 are set
out below:

- Mr. Chung Yuk Lun resigned as Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company with effect from 21
June 2016.

- With effect from 1 September 2016, the monthly salary
and other benefits of Ms. Chow Mun Yee, Executive
Director of the Company, has been increased to
HK$90,000.

- Mr. Cheung Wing Ping resigned as executive director of
Mason Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Mason
Financial Holdings Limited, whose shares are listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 273) with
effect from 8 September 2016.

- Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei resigned as Executive Director
of the Company with effect from 24 January 2017.

- Mr. Lo Kan Sun and Ms. Au Shuk Yee Sue resigned as
Executive Directors of the Company with effect from 25
January 2017.

- Mr. Zhang Yongdong resigned as Non-executive Director
of the Company with effect from 25 January 2017.

- Mr. Hung Cho Sing and Dr. Agustin V. Que resigned as
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company
with effect from 25 January 2017.
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For the year ended 31 March 2017, the Board convened a total BHe—_2—+tF=A=+—HIFEE &

of 66 full board meetings. Attendance records of the Board EEAEHEAMORESTERBEE FA-
meetings, other general meetings and the meetings of the EFegRn HUKRRASERESFEZES
Board Committees during the year were set out below: R EFBIBRESNOT
Meetings Attended/Held
HE/ BIERRY
Annual Extraordinary
General General Audit Remuneration  Nomination
Board Meeting Meeting ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee

EZ® RREFAE RRBAIAE ENZBE HMWZEE RAZEE

Executive Directors BTES
Mr. Yang Haoying BEERE (L) 35/66 0/1 112 - - -
(Chief Operating Officer) (R=E-"E+A=T1H
(appointed on 20 October 2016) EZRAT)
Ms. Chow Mun Yee BRI 64/66 /1 22 - - -
Mr. Wang Xiaodong THELEE 36/66 0/1 112 - - -
(appointed on 20 October 2016) (R=ZE-A~E+A-1H
BZH)
Mr. Zhao Tong BYEE 23/66 0/1 112 - - -
(appointed on 20 October 2016) (R=E-~E+A=TH
BZ)
Mr. Lo Kan Sun BEHAE (M54 56/66 /1 22 - - -
(resigned on 25 January 2017) —A-+HBET)
Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei TERAE (RZ2—+tF 3/66 0/1 02 - - -
(resigned on 24 January 2017) —AZtMBEET)
Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue ARERL (RZZ2—1F 32/66 0/1 112 - - -
(resigned on 25 January 2017) —A-t+HBET)

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED



Meetings Attended/Held

HE/ BTEENY
Annual Extraordinary
General General Audit Remuneration  Nomination
Board Meeting Meeting  Committee ~ Committee  Committee
E2e RRBEAE RRBAIKE ERZEE HHEEE REZEE
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES
Directors
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping RETEE 64/66 11 212 33 5/5 5/5
Mr. Fung Tze Wa BFERE (RZ2—+% 5/66 0/1 02 03 0/5 0/5
(appointed on 25 January 2017) —B-TRBEZT)
Mr. Wu Kell Brnik (R=F-1% 4/66 01 012 073 05 05
(appointed on 20 October 2016) +AZ+BEZHE)
Mr. Xu Zhiguang BREXEE(RZ2—+% 4/66 0/1 02 03 0/5 0/5
(appointed on 25 January 2017) —B-TRBEZA)
Mr. Chung Yuk Lun EEBEE (RZZ-1F 266 0/1 072 03 055 0/5
(resigned on 21 June 2016) NAZT-BEL)
Mr. Hung Cho Sing HRHERE (RZ2—+% 31/66 17 22 23 5/5 5/5
(resigned on 25 January 2017) —AZ+RBEE)
Dr. Agustin V. Que Agustin V. QuefE+ (R=% 26/66 11 012 33 5/5 5/5
(resigned on 25 January 2017) —tF-AZ+HAF
f£)
The Board is collectively responsible for the leadership, control EFEeERBARLAEEH EE EERE
and overall strategic development of the Group, as well as BERERER WEE $E B mEpesE - B

overseeing internal control, financial performance, overall
management and operations of the Group. The Board has
delegated day-to-day operations to management, who is
responsible for implementing the Group’s business strategies
and managing the daily business operations.

During the year ended 31 March 2017 and up to the date of
the annual report, the Company has complied with the
requirements under the Listing Rules and has appointed four
Independent Non-executive Directors, representing more than
one-third of the number of Directors at the Board, with at least
one of the Independent Non-executive Directors has
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has made an
annual confirmation of independence, and the Company
considers that all of the Independent Non-executive Directors
are independent in accordance with the guidelines as set out in
the Listing Rules.
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Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has also arranged in-house
training for Directors and provided the relevant materials to the
Directors.

All Directors have provided record of training to the Company.

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the Directors participated
in the following trainings:

ARREBEEF2EFERZEER AHE
REEHWEZMB R ARAIE
REFZHABAMEI - L RKFREM
kR R

BEEHEMARTVREES T

&

BE-F—tH=A=t-RALFE ¥
FELRTHE

Name Type of trainings
i EIIESE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Yang Haoying (Chief Operating Officer) GRS (EERE) A B
Ms. Chow Mun Yee MG /NA A, B
Mr. Wang Xiaodong FEEREAE A, B
Mr. Zhao Tong HEY S E A, B
Independent Non-executive Directors BYEHITES
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping REETF R AE A, B
Mr. Fung Tze Wa FESE A, B
Mr. Wu Keli M5 %t A, B
Mr. Xu Zhiguang RER A A, B
A:  in-house training A REBEET
B:  attending seminars and/or forums and/or reading relevant B: WHEMEk simiEk, SHEMEEM
materials #
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Under Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the role of both the
chairman and chief executive should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. Since the resignation of Mr.
Zhang Yongdong as the Chairman on 25 January 2017, no individual
was appointed as the Chairman. The role of the Chairman has been
tentatively taken up by Mr. Yang Haoying (“Mr. Yang”), the Chief
Operating Officer of the Company. One of the major roles of Mr.
Yang is to ensure that the Board works effectively and discharges its
responsibility properly. Mr. Yang also ensures that good corporate
governance practice is in force from time to time, and all key issues
are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. Mr. Wang Xiaodong,
the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, performs the role of
Chief Executive of the Company and is responsible for implementing
the Group's investment strategies within the authorities delegated by
the Board and managing the day-to-day business of the Group.

In the meantime, the Board will continue to use its best endeavour
in conducting an executive search for an appropriate candidate both
from within the Company as well as externally to act as the new
Chairman.

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee
comprises four Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping (Chairman), Mr. Fung Tze Wa, Mr. Wu
Keli and Mr. Xu Zhiguang. Each committee meeting was
chaired by an Independent Non-executive Director. The
principal duties of the Audit Committee include:

*  monitoring the independence and objectivity with the
external auditors and maintaining the effectiveness of the
audit process;

e monitoring integrity of the Company's financial
statements and reports;

e reviewing financial controls, risk management system and
internal controls; and

e reviewing the Company’s financial and accounting policies
and practices.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to
perform its duties and has access to independent professional
advice if necessary. During the year, the Audit Committee had
reviewed the Group’s internal control, the interim report for
the six months ended 30 September 2016 and the annual
report for the year ended 31 March 2017.

The Audit Committee convened three meetings for the year.
Additional meetings will be held if the Audit Committee shall
so request. The individual attendance record of each member
of the Audit Committee is disclosed under the section headed
“Board of Directors” above.
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As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration
Committee comprises four Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Wing Ping (Chairman), Mr. Fung
Tze Wa, Mr. Wu Keli and Mr. Xu Zhiguang. The major roles and
functions of the Remuneration Committee as per the terms of
reference are as follows:

e to make recommendations to the Board on the Group’s
policy and structure for the remuneration of the Directors
and senior management;

e to review and approve the management’'s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals
and objectives;

e to review and recommend the remuneration packages of
all Executive Directors for approval by the Board; and

*  to review and approve compensation payable to Directors
in connection with loss of their offices or compensation
arrangement relating to dismissal or removal of Director.

The Remuneration Committee has every right to access to
professional advice relating to remuneration proposal if
necessary. The Remuneration Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to perform its duties and has access to
independent professional advice if necessary. During the year,
the Remuneration Committee had reviewed the remuneration
package for the Directors and senior management of the
Group and no Director was involved in deciding his/her
remuneration. The Remuneration Committee adopted the
approach under the CG Code to determine and review, with
delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of
individual Executive Directors and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee convened five meetings for the
year. The individual attendance record of each member of the
Remuneration Committee is disclosed under the section headed
“Board of Directors” above.

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination
Committee comprises four Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Wing Ping (Chairman), Mr. Fung
Tze Wa, Mr. Wu Keli and Mr. Xu Zhiguang. The major roles and
functions of the Nomination Committee as per the terms of
reference are as follows:

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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e  to review the structure, size and composition of the Board
and make recommendations for appointment of Directors/
Chairman/Chief Executive; and

e to assess the independence of the Independent Non-
executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties and has access to independent
professional advice if necessary. During the year, the
Nomination Committee had reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board; and considered the appointment of
Independent Non-executive Directors.

Nomination Committee would make recommendations to the
Board regarding the appointment and re-appointment of
Directors, with reference to the skills, knowledge, experiences
education background, professional knowledge, personal
integrity of the proposed candidates, and also the Company’s
needs and other relevant statutory requirements and
regulations required for the positions. A candidate who is to be
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director should
also meet the independence criteria as set out in the Listing
Rules. Qualified candidates will then be recommended to the
Board for approval.

The Nomination Committee convened five meetings for the
year. The individual attendance record of each member of the
Nomination Committee is disclosed under the section headed
“Board of Directors” above.

The Board established a set of Board Diversity Policy setting out
the terms and approach to achieve diversity on the Board in
order to enhance its effectiveness and to maintain the high
standards of corporate governance. Board diversity has been
considered from a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service, as well as the Company’s business nature and specific
needs from time to time. The Nomination Committee will
review the Board Diversity Policy on a regular basis to ensure
the Board has the appropriate balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives that are required to support the
execution of its business strategy and in order for the Board to
be effective. Board appointments will continue to be made on
a merit and contribution basis and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, with due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board. The current Board consists of
diverse mix of Board members appropriate to the requirement
of the business of the Company.
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The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties with written terms of reference as below:

e to develop and review an issuer’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

e to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

e to review and monitor the Company's policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

° to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
applicable to employees and Directors; and

e to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year, the Board had reviewed the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance.

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the remuneration paid/payable
to the Company’s external auditor in respect of audit services and
non-audit services were as follows:
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Nature of services Amount
PR 75 & &5

HK$'000

BT T
Review of interim results EHREEE 700
Audit services EZR® 2,000
Non-audit services for other engagements Hith EB AT Z R 2,550
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Ms. Chow Mun Yee is the Company Secretary of the Company, who
is also an Executive Director of the Company. She supports the
Board, ensures good information flow within the Board and Board
policy and procedures are followed, advises the Board on governance
matters and arrange continuous professional development to the
Directors. Her biography is set out in the “Biographical Details of
Directors” of this annual report.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, Ms. Chow has confirmed
that she has duly complied with the relevant requirement under the
Listing Rules and taken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

The Board is responsible for the system of internal controls and risk
management of the Group and to review its effectiveness. The
internal controls of the Group was designed to provide reasonable
assurance that material assets were protected, business risks
attributable to the Group were identified and monitored properly,
material transactions were executed in accordance with proper
authorisation. It aims to provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.

During the year, a review of key internal control procedures had
been conducted to ensure that processes had been properly carried
out as prescribed in making decisions; the internal control policies
had been properly followed; books and records and documents were
properly maintained; and the investment was in compliance with
relevant legislations, regulations or/and other statutory requirements.

Management currently takes the view that there is no immediate
need to set up an internal audit function in light of the size, nature
and complexity of the Group’s business. The need for an internal
audit function will be reviewed from time to time.

Investment in listed securities and equity investments are the core of
the Group' s investments which were classified as investments at fair
value through profit or loss and available-for-sale investments,
respectively in the consolidated statement of financial position and
may expose to market price risk and foreign exchange risk. The
Board has continuously monitoring these investments with an aim to
reduce such risks.
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Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, any
two shareholders of the Company may request the Board to
convene an extraordinary general meeting by way of depositing
a written requisition at the registered office of the Company
(Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands) specifying the objects of the
meeting and signed by the requisitionists.

Subject to applicable laws and regulations, including the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules and
the Articles of Association of the Company, the Company may
from time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution
elect any person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the Board.

A shareholder of the Company may propose a person (the
“Person”) for election as a Director by lodging the following
documents at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong at 38th Floor, Bank of China Tower, 1 Garden
Road, Hong Kong:

(1) a notice in writing signed by the shareholder concerned of
his/her/its intention to propose the Person as a Director
with full particulars of the Person including his/her/its full
name and biographical details as required under the
relevant requirement under the Listing Rules; and

(2) a notice in writing signed by the Person of his/her/its
consent to be elected as a Director.

The period for lodgement of such notice shall commence on
(and include) the day after the despatch of the notice of
meeting appointed for such election and end on (and exclude)
the date that is seven (7) days before the date appointed for
the general meeting.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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Shareholders may direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company'’s share registrar in Hong Kong,
Tricor Secretaries Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong. Other shareholders’ enquiries
can be sent by mail to the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong at 38th Floor, Bank of China Tower, 1
Garden Road, Hong Kong for the attention of Company
Secretary who will direct the enquiries to the Board for their
handling.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

There is no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2017.

The Company’s corporate website (www.freeman279.com)
facilitates effective communications with shareholders,
investors and other stakeholders, making corporate information
and other relevant financial and non-financial information
available electronically and on a timely basis. This includes
extensive historical information about the Group's performance
and activities via Interim Report, Annual Report,
announcements and other corporate information.

Shareholder’s meetings, such as annual general meeting and
extraordinary general meetings, provide another channel for
the Board to meet and communicate with shareholders. All
shareholders are provided with sufficient notice to attend the
shareholders’ meeting. The results of the voting by poll are
published on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s
website on a timely basis.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation of
financial statements of the Group which give a true and fair view of
the financial position of the Group and of its financial performance
and cash flows. The Directors ensure that the financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2017 have been prepared in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. They will also ensure the publication of which be in a
timely manner.
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This is the first Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the
"ESG report”) prepared by the Group, highlighting its
Environmental, Social and Governance (the "ESG") performance,
with disclosure reference made to the ESG Reporting Guide as
described in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”).

This ESG report covers the Group's overall performance in two
subject areas, namely, environmental and social issues of the
business operations in Hong Kong from 1 April 2016 to 31 March
2017, unless otherwise stated.

In order to identify the most significant aspects for the Group to
report on for this ESG report, key stakeholders including investors,
shareholders and employees have been involved in regular
engagement sessions to discuss and to review areas of attention
which will help the business meets its potential growth and be
prepared for future challenges.

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on our environmental,
social and governance approach and performance. Please give your
suggestions or share your views with us via email at
info@freeman279.com.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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Type of emission sources the Group involved in the reporting REBRREARSROERREREE

period was mainly from electricity and paper consumption. The RKEBNRBERBEE - EBNLRXTE
business was not involved in consumption of any types of fuels, RERRZEZREENEMBRANRE -8
packaging materials, production-related air, water and land EME - EEMBRE KI5
pollutions which are regulated under national laws and

regulations.

Overall the environmental impact from the business operation EBLENBBIRBLZE TN AM - A&
is not significant. Nevertheless, the Group commits to continue BB AR TEEL S NI IR —EEE
making effort and taking every step to comply with relevant STAEBARER  WREEE B ARTNE
laws and regulation, as well as reducing the overall impacts g

towards the natural environment.

Scope of Emission Total emission

greenhouse gas emissions Emission sources (in tonnes of COZ2e) (in percentage)

oz R P E HERUR Mg B E

(LI — S 1Efix (BAH)
EEi)

Scope 1

Direct emission NA NA NA

#EN

BEHEM 3@ A i@ A iE A

Scope 2

Indirect emission Purchased electricity 87.46 89%

gE2

M HEN BEEN

Scope 3

Other indirect emission Paper consumption 11.13 11%

#[E3

H b B HE R AR IEFE

Total 98.59 100%

@t

Note: Emission factors were made reference to Appendix 27 of MizE: BREBEBAN FREHEHIELE LT
the Listing Rules and their referred documentation as set RAIMER27T R BB E R HMERAF
out by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the (B2 PT)) R 2 E S MHEL -

“Stock Exchange”), unless stated otherwise.

There was 98.59 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent REBEBSNBEPANNEEREHNE
greenhouse gases (mainly carbon dioxide, methane and 298 5oE — |k EE(XTE A _-S1
nitrous oxide) emitted from the Group’s operation during ix - B RE L a) »

the reporting period.
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Total electricity consumption by the Group's offices
was 110,711.65 kWh, contributing to a total of
87.46 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent. The
Group reminds the employees to switch off all the
lights, air conditioners, computers, monitors and
equipment before leaving work. Energy efficient
electrical appliances such as refrigerators with Grade
1 energy label under the Mandatory Energy
Efficiency Labelling Scheme by the Electrical and
Mechanical Services Department were purchased.

The Group’s water supply and discharge were
managed by building’s management office and the
usage have been included in the management fees.
It is noteworthy that the Group did not consume
significant amount of water through business
activities, and the water consumption was
considered minimal during the reporting period.

The Group generated no hazardous waste in its
operation. Non-hazardous waste from the Group's
operation were mainly office paper. A total of 2.32
tonnes of paper was consumed for daily office
operations such as documents printing, contributing
to a total of 11.13 tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent. Waste paper was collected by the
building management office for proper disposal. The
Group practices paper saving initiatives as
employees are encouraged to print paper on both
sides and reuse recycled paper for their draft works.
Reusable dishes and utensils are provided at pantry
for further waste reduction.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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The Group had a total number of 65 employees as
of 31 March 2017, in which all employees were in
full time positions. The Group provides competitive
remuneration package to reward and retain the
employees.

Employees are entitled to all public holidays in Hong
Kong in additions to their paid annual leave, group
medical insurance, mandatory provident fund,
standard working hours as written in employment
contracts. Individual performance appraisal system is
established for better review on employee’'s work
progress, their potential talent and contribution
towards the Group's future goals.

The Group is committed to developing and
supporting equality and diversity in employment, on
the basis of age, race, colour, nationality and any
other status protected by the legislations and
ordinances.

RZE—+F=A=+—H K
SEHXARER ERE
BReR AEERTAFRS
NEVFM - ARHREIEERES -
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Workforce by 56 and
age group 18-25 26-35 46-55 above
REREINET 565 LA b
2017 4 9 4

—E—tF

The Group has occupational health and safety
measures for office setting to ensure a healthy and
safe working environment for employees. The Group
is dedicated to maintaining a safe, hygienic and
productive workplace by minimising the potential
risk of accidents and injuries in relation to health
risks.

Orientation training was given to employees when
joining the Group, to ensure they understand their
rights, welfare and the Group’s human resources
system. Training programmes are developed based
on business needs and development goals of
employees. The Group will look into further training
opportunity to equip employees with knowledge
and skills needed to grow with the business.
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There was no child nor forced labour in the Group’s
operations in the reporting period. Background
check was conducted for new employee if necessary
for compliance with the Employment Ordinance,
Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong in terms of
employment management. All employees must
show their original Hong Kong Identity Card or
working visa to prove they are not illegal labours
when joining the Group. There was no non-
compliance issue noted regarding labour standards
as required by related laws and regulations during
the reporting period.

The Group has standard procedures on engaging
suppliers and contractors related to its business
operations. Suppliers were reviewed and screened
carefully to ensure the quality, price and capability
meet the Group’s expectations and standards.

The Group provides a high standard of service to
satisfy the investment and financial needs of its
customers. It follows the internal policies and
regulatory requirements when delivering its services
and regularly reviews the services quality and seeking
customer feedback to identify areas of improvement. It
explains to the customers the underlying risks derived
from the financial products and facilitates financial
decision-making process. The Group had ensured that
the information and marketing materials it provided
do not contain any misleading content, and performed
preventive measures, including implementation of
“Know-Your-Customers” procedures, to protect
customers’ interests more effectively. Furthermore, the
respective subsidiaries performing relevant financial
services are licensed and regulated under the Securities
and Futures Commission (the “SFC"). Apart from
complying with the SFC regulations relating to custody
of customer assets, the Group protects its clients’
assets by adopting adequate controls such as
maintaining designated trust accounts to manage
customers’ funds, which are audited regularly by
independent accountants.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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The Group acknowledges the importance of
protecting the privacy and confidentiality of its
customers’ information. The Group had developed
internal policy to govern the collection, handling,
and disclosure of clients’ data. Pursuant to Personal
Data (Privacy) Ordinance, Chapter 486 of the Laws
of Hong Kong, the Group has prohibited the use of
any personal information of clients by other parties
for direct marketing purposes if unlawful or without
explicit and implicit consent of the client.

No cases of non-compliance with laws and
regulations relating to product responsibility arising
in the reporting period that would have had a
significant impact on the Group is noted.

The Group has committed to manage all business
without undue influence and has regarded honesty,
integrity, and fairness as its core values. All Directors
and employees are required to strictly follow the
Group's policy to prevent potential bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.

The Group cares for the development of the society and it
encourages its employees to participate in charitable
events, and to make contributions by both financial and
non-financial means. The Group has not participated in
any community engagement activities in the reporting
period, and will consider potential focus areas and
resources for community contribution in the coming
years.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2017.

The Company is an investment holding company. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1
to the financial statements.

Details of the analysis of the Group’s revenue and results for the
year by operating segments are set out in note 4 to the financial
statements.

Further discussion and analysis of the Group's business review and
prospects can be found in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” section of this annual report.

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 March 2017 and the
financial position of the Group at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 54 to 57. The Directors do not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year.

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements and restated/
reclassified/re-presented as appropriate, is set out on page 160. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

Details of the movements in the share capital and share options of
the Company during the year are set out in notes 27 and 28 to the
financial statements respectively.

As at 31 March 2017, the Company has 1,376,551,640 First
Warrants and 688,275,820 Second Warrants outstanding. Further
details of the exercise of warrants were disclosed in the Business
Review under the paragraph headed “First Warrants and Second
Warrants” of the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the listed securities of the
Company.

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 58 and note 41 to the financial statements.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, dividends
shall be payable out of the profits or other reserves of the Company.
The Company'’s reserves available for distribution to the Company’s
shareholders comprise share premium, capital redemption reserve,
contributed surplus, distributable reserve, shareholder’s contribution,
share option reserve, warrant reserve and accumulated losses, which
in aggregate amounted to HK$2,980,736,000 (2016:
HK$3,036,378,000) at 31 March 2017.

During the year, the Group made no charitable contributions (2016:
HK$250,000).

During the year, the aggregate turnover attributable to the Group's
five largest customers represents approximately 47.4% of the
Group's total revenue (excluding the Group's dividend income and
losses from the sale of investments at fair value through profit or
loss, net) and the revenue attributable to the Group’s largest
customer was approximately 23.9% (excluding the Group's dividend
income and losses from the sale of investments at fair value through
profit or loss, net).

The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers represent approximately 72.7% of the Group’s
total purchases and the purchases attributable to the Group's largest
supplier were approximately 40.0% of the Group's total purchases.

As far as the Directors are aware, no Directors of the Company, their
close associates or any shareholder of the Company (which to the
Directors’ knowledge own more than 5% of the Company's share
capital) has any shareholding in the suppliers referred to above as at
31 March 2017.
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The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Mr. Yang Haoying (Chief Operating Officer)
(appointed on 20 October 2016)
Ms. Chow Mun Yee
Mr. Wang Xiaodong (appointed on 20 October 2016)
Mr. Zhao Tong (appointed on 20 October 2016)
Mr. Lo Kan Sun (resigned on 25 January 2017)
Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei (resigned on 24 January 2017)
Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue (resigned on 25 January 2017)

Mr. Zhang Yongdong (appointed on 18 July 2016 and
resigned on 25 January 2017)

Mr. Cheung Wing Ping

Mr. Fung Tze Wa (appointed on 25 January 2017)
Mr. Wu Keli (appointed on 20 October 2016)

Mr. Xu Zhiguang (appointed on 25 January 2017)
Mr. Chung Yuk Lun (resigned on 21 June 2016)
Mr. Hung Cho Sing (resigned on 25 January 2017)
Dr. Agustin V. Que (resigned on 25 January 2017)

In accordance with Articles 95 and 112 of the Company's Articles of
Association, Mr. Yang Haoying, Ms. Chow Mun Yee, Mr. Wang
Xiaodong, Mr. Zhao Tong, Mr. Cheung Wing Ping, Mr. Fung Tze Wa,
Mr. Wu Keli and Mr. Xu Zhiguang will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.

No Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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At 31 March 2017, based on the register kept by the Company, the
interests of the Directors and chief executives of the Company and
their associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations, as recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") or as otherwise
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company:

R _TE—tF=A=+—H BERRAFEZE
ety AARIESEREBITRABUREK
52 BB AR AR E g H AT AR HE A E 2 B D »
R RERERET  EEARANRTRIEE
R EIEGRE ([EHFREMEHE]) 3521678
FEZERMA ARBEBRMESF EHRA
(TEMMRD SR T PrE s EMBEITAESRE
TRERAFRXHMEETRANGRNRA LB BB
EBRZGMABRRAR ([BRA]) 2 EmmT:

RALBEBRZER

Deemed
Number of interests
shares  in number of Approximate
and shares and percentage of
underlying underlying the issued
Name of Director Capacity shares held shares Total share capital
BERRD R
FREROKR  HEROHE HEBITRA
EsnE =8 HERMEE hEA RS et MAOBED
Ms. Chow Mun Yee Beneficial owner 6,048,000 (L) 100,000,000 (L) 106,048,000 (L) 0.74% (L)

P E BEmlAA

(L):  Long Position

The interests stated above represent the Director’s interests in the
shares of the Company. Save as disclosed above and based on the
register kept by the Company, at 31 March 2017, none of the
Directors, chief executives nor their associates had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in note 28 to the financial statements headed
“Share Option Scheme”, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures)
of, the Company or any other body corporate, and none of the
Directors, or their spouses or children under the age of eighteen,
had any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such rights during the year.
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At 31 March 2017, based on the register kept by the Company, the
following persons has interests or short position in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company, being 5% or more of the
Company’s issued share capital, as known to the Company or
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of SFO:

R-ZFB—tEF=ZA=1T—"H BARRAFEZE
RMATES > AR RIAMA - AR BRIEE S
FEIEIGRPIE336FRFE 2 ERMARE AT
AT HBERARRA R & HERER G 2 # % 80%
B RARADBITRAS%HIA L

Approximate

percentage
of the issued
Name of substantial shareholders Capacity Total share capital
HEBITRAR
TERREBRE B g4 et BABE DL
Mr. Zhang Yongdong (Note 1) Beneficial owner 4,194,780,000 (L) 29.28% (L)
SRR A (FEFET) BB A 2,615,069,000 (S) 18.26% (S)
Guotai Junan Securities Co., Ltd.* (Note 2) Other 2,615,069,000 (L) 18.26% (L)
BRBELRELSRMDBBR AT (M) EHAh
Mr. Huang Shaowu (Note 3) Beneficial owner 1,185,000,000 (L) 8.27% (L)
HABR LA (KFE3) BB A
GT Group Holdings Limited (Note 4) Beneficial owner 879,520,000 (L) 6.14% (L)
aEEEERERAR (HE4) E=mfEA
Mr. Yan Ming (Note 5) Beneficial owner 750,000,000 (L) 5.24% (L)
B A S A (B RES) EREBA

(L):  Long Position
(S):  Short Position

Note 1: These Shares were held by Galaxy Strategic Investment Co. Ltd., a
company wholly-owned by Mr. Zhang Yongdong.

Note 2: Guotai Junan Securities Co., Ltd.* is the ultimate holding company
of Shanghai Guotai Junan Securities Assets Management Co., Ltd.*
(“Shanghai Guotai”) and is deemed to be interested in
2,615,069,000 Shares through Shanghai Guotai.

Note 3: These Shares were held by Zhanhong International Limited, a
company wholly-owned by Mr. Huang Shaowu.

Note 4: These Shares are held by Upperclass Developments Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of GT Group Holdings Limited.

Note 5: These Shares are held by Eternal Link Investments Limited, a
company wholly-owned by Mr. Yan Ming.

* for identification purpose only

Save as disclosed above and based on the register kept by the
Company, the Company had not been notified by any persons who
had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company at 31 March 2017 as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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The Company has received, from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all the Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the Company’s business were entered into or subsisting during
the year.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Company is set up by
the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) on the basis of
their merit, qualifications and competence. The emoluments of the
Directors are decided by the Board, who are authorised by the
shareholders in the annual general meeting, having regard to the
Company's operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics. The Company has adopted a share
option scheme as an incentive, details of the scheme are set out in
note 28 to the financial statements.

The Company’s Articles of Association provides that every Director
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in
relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’
and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and
officers of the Company during the year. The level of the coverage is
reviewed annually.

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total number of issued shares is held by the public as at the date of
this report.

Details of the related party transactions (which did not constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
discloseable under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules) for the year
ended 31 March 2017 are set out in note 36 to the financial
statements.
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Directors’ Report

EEERE

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
shares.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, to the best knowledge of the Directors, there was
no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company values its employees and maintains competitive
remuneration packages to motivate its employees. Throughout the
year, the Group continued to maintain good relationships with its
employees, customers, suppliers, service providers and investors.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events of the Group after the reporting
period are set out in the section of “Management Discussion and
Analysis” and note 42 to the financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group is committed to building an environmental-friendly
corporation. The Group promotes environmental practices such as
double-sided printing and copying, using recycled paper and
reducing energy consumption of lightings and air-conditioning.

The Environment, Social and Governance Report is set out on pages
30 to 35 of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

A report on the corporate governance practices of the Company is
set out in pages 18 to 29 of this annual report.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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The Board appointed Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited as the new EBEE@DEZIREEE (FH)SMELMEA
auditor of the Company with effect from 28 April 2017 to fill the RRAFAARRFFMZHEM BT —F WA

casual vacancy following the resignation of Ernst & Young. Save as  — 1+ /\B#EAR - NIEH LK S TAIESFTET
disclosed above, there was no other change of auditor of the BHZHR-B EXHAMFEEEIN BAEZFAFEAX
Company during the past three years. N EZEREN N A A o

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March A&£EHE—_ZT—tF=_A=+—HILFEH

2017 of the Group have been audited by Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA 4 A B EBEAREEE (FH) @A ESAR

Limited, who will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting HBRAREZ HEEE (FF) et EHM

and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. ERAABREERRBEARG LRE - FEA
A FRE B R -

On behalf of the Board REESFE

Freeman FinTech Corporation Limited REEMBEEZERERAF
Yang Haoying SEAE

Chief Operating Officer BIE R

Hong Kong, 29 June 2017 BB ZE—tFAAZTANA
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N\ Crowe Horwath.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

(FORMERLY KNOWN AS FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED)
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Freeman
FinTech Corporation Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together “the Group”) set out on pages 54 to 159, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

BEEEE (B8 SETEEHAMERAR
Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited

Member Crowe Horwath International

HE WRE SRETTR BEP0E
9/F Leighton Centre,

77 Leighton Road,

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
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Key audit matters are those matters that,

in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial

FREZFRERBERMANERHE R
ARG EVBRRNBR T REZNFH %
FERERMNYSAVBBRRETERERL
Lt EREREEE  RAL T SIMNEHRE

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we R o

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Refer to notes 3(a), 3(b), 17,

2.4(j) on page 80 to 82.

The key audit matter
FEREEREIR

18(a), 18(b), 18(c) and 19 to the
consolidated financial statements and the accounting policy note

qa/ﬁﬂﬁ AU EHRERMFE3GE) 3(b) 17 ~18(a)"
18(b) ~ 18(c) & 19LA N F580E 82 B MY & 51 B % Mt
F£2.4() °

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMNEZRPUAEEESESEE

The Group has significant receivable balances as at year
end. Given the size of the balances and the risk that some
of the receivables may not be recoverable, judgement is
required to evaluate whether any allowance should be
made to reflect the risk.
SENFEREERERFIALR - ER A RHRAE K
%WmﬁT%ﬁi%@mﬂA FEEHHE - UFTHE
B A a5 - A AR LB

Impairment losses are estimated by management once
objective evidence of impairment becomes apparent.
Management exercises judgement in determining the
quantum of loss based on a range of factors. These may
include the financial situation of the debtors, past
settlement record, collaterals valuation and the seniority of
the claim.
EREALRBREBENRRTEIBERMARE B2
BEARZERZETEFEReERELHE - FEEEA
BEREEBANMBIRN BELAELE B mGE RS
R FEEIET -

Our audit procedures to assess the recoverability of
receivable balances included the followings:

B E RESR G B EZEFBRIATRIR

- obtaining an understanding of and assessing the
design, implementation and operating effectiveness
of management’s internal controls relating to credit
risk management, debt collection and the
assessment of impairment for receivables;

- T%iﬁﬁ%ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ@%ﬁ U f& K 8 R
TRR B R {4 80 A BRI 2 B At B RIRER UL

- assessing whether terms in the receivable ageing
report were classified within the appropriate ageing
bracket;

- FHMARKFIEREKRETHHR RS
P& 5

ME)]EEH?,ZH

- obtaining an understanding of the basis of
management’s judgements about the recoverability
of overdue balances and evaluating, on a sample
basis, whether management had performed
appropriate credit assessments of the related
debtors;

- TREBEEMEEARIE M B I
SR ERERSEH MBS ALETHENEEN
i

REETHMRERERAF
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZBE RS

RECOVERABILITY OF FINANCE LEASE

RECEIVABLES, FACTORING RECEIVABLES, NOTES

RECEIVABLE, LOANS RECEIVABLE AND
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

The key audit matter
BREERER

ElmEEERE BEiGRERE -
BElRE BREREEKERZA
Wl =z)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMWELPUMEEREESEE

We identified assessing the recoverability of finance lease
receivables, factoring receivables, notes receivable, loans
receivable and accounts receivable as a key audit matter
because of the existence of inherent uncertainty for the
assessment. These included that receivable may not be
recovered, future market conditions are unpredictable and
the assessment of the allowances for doubtful debts
requires the exercise of significant management
judgement.

B R EEHEFIE  EBURIEFIE  BUNER B
ERRERERzATKBMELS - HEREZEE RA
ARG EAETHEE N - B REYIER BB -~ K2R
MREETEA B EREREGERTEEEBHELERHE -

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

- assessing the historical accuracy of management'’s
assessment of impairment for receivables by
examining the actual write-offs, the reversal of
previously recorded impairments and additional
allowances for doubtful debts recorded in the
current year in respect of receivable balances at the
prior reporting period; and

- FBEREERME REAARRENRERRAFERR
F—mE R R IR AR AR BN R AR - 5T
HEREBRTHRWFIENRMEN 2 ER-IE: &

- evaluating management'’s judgement in determining
the recoverable amount of overdue balances by
comparing, on a sample basis, the value of realisable
collaterals based on available market information
and the subsequent settlement.

- BRMRLBRAERERRERAIEESTSEMNE
BEREBEEBR THEEBEETOREHR A
Ui [o] 14 B B ) T



Refer to notes 3(d),

The key audit matter
BREREIR

13 and 14 to the consolidated financial
statements and the accounting policy note 2.4(a) on page 66 to 67.

BLHGRA M EIRRMEES) 13X 1400 K566
F67TEMGET RN E2.4() °

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMWERPNAEEEESE

As disclosed in note 2.4(a) to the consolidated financial
statements, investments in a joint venture and an
associate are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at the Group’s share of net assets under
equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.
WMERE M BMENT2 4@ EE  N—RAEE QAR R —E
%éﬁﬂzhﬁ\ﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁ &
SEEGCEEFERETMBABESEARK-

We identified the valuation of investments in a joint
venture and an associate as a key audit matter due to the
significance of the Group’s interests therein and the
judgement made by management.
BABR—HBERAR N —HeERRZRENEHERR
—ERREZEE RAR EEBEETHEEEA#DR
HE TR BT (4 H AT Ya [B] & 58 B 4F L # F -

Our procedures in relation to the assessment of the
recoverable amount of the investments in a joint venture
and an associate included the followings:

BN —He 2R R L —HEE QR ZIREPTERER
MEFBEEATEE:

- assessing the appropriateness of management'’s
policy in accounting for its investments in a joint
venture and an associate; and

- FEEEEARN A AT R
ENERENBERSTEE &

EREIZR

- understanding management’s process for identifying
the existence of impairment indicators and
evaluating the effectiveness of such process and
evaluating management’s assessment.

- THEEEANREFEREFRNIERF I
127 808 B R T B IR JE A IR o

R EEA
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Refer to notes 3(c) and 16 to the consolidated financial statements

and the accounting policy note 2.4(j) on page 80 to 82.

The key audit matter
BREREIR

BE2HEAMERRMFEIOM16A M FEB0ES2
B ERTBURKTEE2.4() ©

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMWERPNAEEEESE

Management assesses the recoverable amount of the
investee based on the latest available financial information
and the market condition to determine if there is any
indication of impairment.
EREENSH I ESHBEM LT RTERRE QAN
AREeHE UWEETERFEEMRETR -

We identified that the assessment of recoverable amount
of the investee as a key audit matter as it requires
significant judgement made by management.

BB HEREQRRMNAIKNE BT HRA—HHAREEZS
B RARHKFEEEEHELERAE-

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of AFS investment measured at cost included
the followings:

B ERERARKAARNAIHEERE ZRMEE
KRN EFEFEATEIE:

- understanding, through inquiry with management,
the established policies and procedures in respect of
the impairment assessment process for AFS
investment; and

- ZATHERE THRAMAHEEREMREN LR
BORBEHRERREF &

- comparing management'’s assessment of objective
evidence for impairment with reference to the
investee financial performance and financial position
and the data and assumption on market conditions.

- Z2EFREQNFDNUBRBERFBMRRBEIE R BET
MEBRR LR EBEHREZTE B BN



Refer to note 3(f) and 30 to the consolidated financial statements

and the accounting policy note 2.4(b) on page 67 to 69

The key audit matter
BREREIR

BRMEAEPERERNFEINMIORETEIR
B2 BRI 5E2.4(b)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMWERPNAEEEESE

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group
acquired the entire issued share capital of Elffey Finance
Limited and its subsidiaries. As at the acquisition date, no
bargain purchase gain or goodwill was recognised. The
Group engaged an independent external valuer to perform
the purchase price allocation on the fair values of the
consideration transferred, identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. The valuation of purchase price
allocation involved significant assumptions and basis
adopted by the independent external valuer.
HE_ZT—+F=A=+—HIEFE E5ERENE
ReMEBRARREMBARTMND I BHITRA - R
TREH TERREAEBERGRAEE . S£EEERE
—BBUNEHEMEEEESEEMEBERE TS
ARMNEENAZBBENRATE -BEEDEMEHT R
BYINEHEMELNERBR RIRMEEE-

We identified the valuation of purchase price allocation as
a key audit matter as it requires significant judgement
made by management.

BPASBEE I RAERA —HERERER REARH
FEEEEFELEKRHE-

We evaluated the valuation methodologies and
assumptions used in the purchase price allocation by:
BMEEBATHANEEEE R EANMGELTER

EEE

- examining the terms of the relevant sale and
purchase agreement;
- BREHEBEZEHENRR:

- assessing the valuation methodologies adopted for
the purpose of determining the fair values of the
considerations transferred, the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed; and

- HARETEENRE PTWEAIEREE R AR
BENRXFEMRANEETE: R

- benchmarking the key parameters against market
data.
- B2EMSBBESEIERZH-

In addition, we considered the independence, objectivity
and competence of the independent external valuer and
also assessed the adequacy of disclosure in connection
with the business combination.

A - HAAIE Z BB INE G ERM B - T8 R BT
BN MEAEAEEHOKERETRR -
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The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2016, were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial
statements on 29 June 2016.

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging

their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, related safeguards.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Wai Dune, Charles.

Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 29 June 2017

Chan Wai Dune, Charles
Practising Certificate Number P00712
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEBEER

Year ended 31 March 2017 #Z2 -F—+#F=HA=+—HIFE

REVENUE

Cost of sales

Gross profit/(loss)

Other income and gains, net

Fair value gains on investments at fair

value through profit or loss, net

General and administrative expenses

Other expenses, net

Finance costs

Share of profits and losses of an
associate and joint ventures, net

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

Income tax credit

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

Basic

Diluted

2017 2016
—E—+F ZE—RF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BET T BT T
g 5 (143,952)
$HE AR (90,251)
ER,(18) (234,203)
E A Y A R U 55 % K8 5 94,273
FBBEARFEYEREZEEZ
N ER R FEE 144,674
— B RITEBAX (95,460)
HibF S F5E (88,865)
B & KA 7 (9,085)
ME—EBE RN A E AR
MR EEFRE 13& 14 (215,959)
BB ADER, (EiE) 6 (404,625)
i e 10 27,159
REERF, (FE) (377,466)
A AL,
VNNETEZ FEDN (620,996)
JEER = 243,530
(377,466)

ARATREBREFBEARGEER
&R, (BE)

"1

EHR (HK6.01 centsi i)

s (HK6.01 centsi1lI)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial  BEMIMIsE R A ST B RREO — 2D o

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

REETEBARSE

Year ended 31 March 2017 B ZE-—F—+F=A=+—HIFZ

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/
(LOSS)

Other comprehensive income/(loss)
to be reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods:
Available-for-sale investments:
Change in fair values
Reclassification of cumulative
gains to the consolidated
statement of profit or
loss upon disposal
Exchange difference arising on
translating foreign operations
Share of other comprehensive

income/(loss) of an associate, net

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/

(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements.

2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BET T BT T
KEERHN, (FE) (377,466)
Ha2mEW A (FE)
BREEHRNETDERIBR Y
HEma2mEmk A (FHiE) :
A ERE:
NEEEH 16 58,584
iR ERER
DEEHRBEREE
(80,601)
BERINERELCELEZR
D —EEBE ARz EME
mRA (Ei8) 38 13 (9,371)
AEEHMEEWRA
(B1E) (BRHE) (31,388)
AEEZERA (BE)H%E
(408,854)
T AL RS
ViN/NEIE F =N (643,691)
JEVE R = 234,837
(408,854)

BERIP FE AR A E M HRER A — 8D -
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R E BRSO R

31 March 2017 —ZF—+F=A=+—H

2017

—ET—+tF

Notes HK$'000
M aE BT T

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Investment in an associate
Investment in a joint venture
Intangible assets
Available-for-sale investments
Loans receivable

Finance lease receivables
Notes receivable

Deposits

Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Accounts receivable

Loans receivable

Factoring receivables

Finance lease receivables

Notes receivable

Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

Investments at fair value through
profit or loss

Cash and bank balances

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable

Other payables and accruals
Interest-bearing other borrowings
Tax payable

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

FRBEE
VN
R—HEBERRZERE
R—HEEERAZKRE
BIVEE
AfHERE
&4 B R

JiE Y b & 7H B SRR
W =&

i7gn

EREHRIAEE

FRBEERE

RBEE

JFE U5 B R

& U B R

& LS 1R 22 R IR

Ji& s b & 7H B SRR

FEW =%

BN e REMERFUR

BRBm AR FEIIKZERE
BE& MIRTTER
MEBEERE

RBEE

J& 1< BR K

Hip BN RAREER
FFRHEMEER

e IR

mBAaBERE

RBEEFE

REERRBAE

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

12
13
14
15
16
18(a)
18(b)
19
20
26

17
18(a)
18(c)
18(b)

19

20

21
22

23
24
25

2016
—E—RF
HK$'000
BT T

1,419
707,309
129,951

1,736

1,374

633,422
119

1,475,330

336,213
9,356

68,913

1,235,102
208,988

1,858,572

21,811
153,367
71,378
8,307

254,863

1,603,709

3,079,039




2017 2016

—E—tF —T-RF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M FE BET T BT T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Interest-bearing other borrowings TEEMEE 25 732,000 10,000
Deferred tax liability EERIEEE 26 63 4,125
Total non-current liabilities EREBBEEE 732,068 14,125
Net assets BEFE 3,465,762 3,064,914
EQUITY B
Issued capital B TR 27 14,324 14,324
Reserves Gl 29 3,451,438 3,050,590
Total equity HEmRE 3,465,762 3,064,914

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors of the MARAEZEZTER _ZT—tF XA+ NLBHL

Company on 29 June 2017 and were signed on its behalf by: EREETE THUTATRERARAGRESE
BE:
Yang Haoying Wang Xiaodong
BIER TBL
Director Director
EF EF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial  BEMIBI T B XS EMERN—F D -
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 March 2017 HZ2=ZF—++=HA=+—HIFEF

Attributable to owners of the Company

AOREEARL
Available-
for-sale
Share Share Capital investment  Exchange Non-
Issued  premium option  Warrant redemption Distributable  Special  Statutory revaluation fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capital  account  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reseve  profits Total interests equity
JRER  EREE  THAK HLER  HERE

BRARA BfREE BRERE 0 BE 0 BE  BE  WARE GEER REMBR 0 BR REM &M JERER  ReEE
Noes  HKEOOD  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKO000
Wi ORBTL RMTR RMTR  ARTR  ARTR BMTR  ARTR ARTR  BBTI RMTR RMTR  AETR EMTR R¥TR

At 1 April 2015 RZE-RFMA-A 10324 1,648,745 - - 485 591,517 35131 - 26,007 (3775 1,146,092 3454526 1,606,550 5,061,076
Profitoss) for the year TEERT/ (BB - - - - - - - - - - (R099%) (6209%) 243530 (377466)
Other comprehensive incomel(loss) for the year: ~ ZEFAH2ERA/ (BB) -
Avalable-for-sale investments: THERE:
Change in fair values LTERY 16 - - - - - - - - - - B4 B9 5858
Reclassfcation of cumulative gains FElGERRE RS e
to the consolidated statements of profitorloss % - - - - - - - - (4819 - - (48779 (31822  (80,601)
Share of other comprehensive incomeffloss) o~ AEAERAR-FBERFZ
joint ventures and an associate, net EfRERA/ (BB)TE - - - - - - - - mBny 389 - -
Total comprehensive incomefloss) for the year ~ AEE 24N/ (BE) 48 - - - - - - - - (653 389 (62099 (643691) 234837 (40885
Deemed acquisition of non-controlling interests B fER B BRER ) - - - - - () - - - - - BS1) (235855 (610,506)
Acquisition of non-controling interests e RES (b) - - - - - - - - - - - - (511,92 (511926)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders ~ RERREER 2R E - - - - - - - - - - - - (1,093,606) (1,093,606)
Isse of equity-settled share options i RARERRE i) - - BW - - - - - - - - BW - BW
Issue of warrans Efakes - - - 20648 - - - - - - - 0648 - 068
Issue of shares upon conversion of convertible notes NERTRRZEELARE  270) 4000 596,000 - - - - - - - - - 600,000 - 600000
Share issue expenses RBEfRZ - (15000 - - - - - - - - - (15000 - (15,000
A131 Merch 2076 RZZ-#EZA=1-R 30N BT NeE 45 dege B3P S S0 30641 - 306490
At 1 April 2016 RZZ-~EMA-R
Profit for the year FERET
Other comprehensive incomel(loss) for the year: ~ AEFEM2ERA/ (FB):
Avalable-for-ale investments: THEERE:
Change in fair values A¥E%E

Euchange difference arsing on translating foreign ~ £EFNFRELMELEE
operations

Share of other comprehensive incomefloss)of B A TEHRERA
an associate, net /(EB)3E

Total comprehensive incomefloss) for the year ~ AEF2FKA/ (8) 48
Transfer E

Share of reserve of an associate 515 -BBENTGE

At31 March 2017 RB-tE=f=1-A

* As at 31 March 2017, these reserve accounts comprise the consolidated * RZTZ—tF=A=1+—H ZEREREER
reserves of HK$3,451,438,000 (2016: HK$3,050,590,000) in the A EIEMRR RER R A FEE B 53,451,438,000
consolidated statement of financial position. JC (ZZ — X4 : #3,050,590,0007T ) °

Notes: B T

(@) Amount represented the aggregate consideration of approximately (a) ZEHWEHE_ET—"EFZA=Z+—HBILFE
HK$610,506,000 in relation to 39.5% interest in a subsidiary of the NEEIE R A AR E —FM B A R #939.5%#
Company bought back by the Group during the year ended 31 March w2 BB HE610,506,0007T (1 IEFE I
2016 transferred from non-controlling interests. wHEA)

(b)  Amount represented the aggregate consideration of approximately (b)) ZEHWEHE_ET—"EFZA=Z+—HBILtFE

HK$511,926,000 in relation to a deemed acquisition of 39.5% interest WAEWHE AR A B 5 — MR 2 R18939. S%be
in another subsidiary of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2R (ER)B511,926,0007T (#IEIERETR
2016 transferred from non-controlling interests. BA) -

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial  BEMIFIsEER X ST IEREREN — 2D
statements.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes

RERERER

Year ended 31 March 2017 B Z=F—+F=FA=+—HIFZ
2017 2016

—E-tF ZT-REF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT AT

k=3

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Share of profits and losses of an
associate and joint ventures, net
Interest income
Depreciation
Fair value gains on investments at fair
value through profit or loss, net
Loss/(gain) on disposal of subsidiaries,
net
Deemed losses/(gains) on changes in
shareholding interests in joint
ventures and associates, net
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment
Equity-settled share option expense
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale
investments, net

Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivable
Decrease in finance lease receivables
Increase in factoring receivables
Decrease/(increase) in loans receivable
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments,

deposits and other receivables
Decrease/(increase) in investments

at fair value through profit or loss
Increase in accounts payable
Decrease in other payables and accruals

Cash generated from/(used in) operations
Interest received

Interest paid

Income tax paid

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating
activities

EERRMELZRERE

BRBATER, (BE)
AT EB FHHAR:
BEKAK
AME—FEBERFARE
MEEERFE
M EYA
e
BRBENAFEIRZKEZ
AT EKREFE
HEMRBRARZER,/
(Yezt) %8
REERRREEREZ BiEE
ZBREEE, () FR

/NI

HENE BEREBEEZBR
/ (es)

N maEE 2 B X
HEATHREERE 2 REFR

FEWRR SR (42 00)

FEA R B E AR

JE LS 4R 32 SR I 38 AN
ERE TR D ()
BNFR RE R E M ELRTIER
2/ (m)
BRBHENAFEIEZHERD
/(&)

JE A BR SR A

H fth & 5 R e FE & B AR

EEMEL/ (FBA)2RE
2 B

ERME

B A5

CEEHMEL (M) 2
REREFRE

13 &14

(404,625)
9,085
215,959
(56,553)
4,936

(144,674)

642

88,223

(4,485)
23,082

(80,601)

(349,011)
(104,568)

216,589
(66,508)
2,620,366

20,489
(1,191)

2,336,166
38,591
(8,950)

2,365,807

RBEMBMKERERLT 59
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2017 2016
—E-tF —E-RF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 BT T BT T

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BREZBEEZ2HERE

ACTIVITIES
Additions to property, NEME BEREE

plant and equipment 12 (2,096) (85,113)
Acquisition of subsidiaries W BB B 2 A 30 (266,965) -
Disposal of subsidiaries & B A A 31 34,763 58
Purchases of available-for-sale investments B E Al it H &8 & 16 (33,300) -
Proceeds from disposal of an available-  HERHHERE 2 F3FIA

for-sale investments - 173,011
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME  BE KRR 2 E5IE

property, plant and equipment - 85,000
Deposit received for proposed disposal of  Btidss 1 & —HINBARIMER 2 Ze

a subsidiary 24 - 150,000
Deposit paid for an investment in a joint LR —FAEARZERES ke

venture 20 - (631,680)
Investment in a joint venture R—EAERRIZEE - (150,000)
Net cash flows used in investing activities REZEFEB A ESREFHE (267,598) (458,724)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEZBMELEZRERE

ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of warrants BITR Mféﬁzﬁﬂ% I8 - 20,648
Acquisitions of non-controlling interests U #& JEIE IR i 25 = (1,021,919)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders ﬁ FERBERIZ T ZRE = (1,093,606)
Proceeds from issue of convertible notes 37T A[ IR Z 48 7 FRE RIA 27(b) = 600,000
Share issue expenses R ETHRX = (15,000)
Drawdown of other borrowings ?EHXEIWE%E 1,367,000 45,000
Repayment of other borrowings BEEEMEE (445,000) (285,000)
Increase in margin loan borrowings, net HEERIES4NTE 172,714 1,123
Net cash flows from/(used in) BETBFELE (FFBH) 2

financing activities HeRmEFH 1,094,714 (1,748,754)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReRESESEYIEMTFE

EQUIVALENTS 406,625 158,329
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [EXF &) v ¥ 235 (695) -
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning  FHIZHE & KR EEEY

of year 208,988 50,659
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FREGRECSEEY

END OF YEAR 614,918 208,988
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH ReRBEESEBEM2EHIIT

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances ReRBITEE 614,918 208,988

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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Freeman FinTech Corporation Limited (formerly known as
Freeman Financial Corporation Limited) is a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman lIslands. The principal
place of business of the Company is located at 38th Floor,
Bank of China Tower, 1 Garden Road, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was principally engaged in the
financial services sector, including the provision of securities
and futures brokerage services, provision of placing,
underwriting and margin financing services, the provision of
insurance brokerage and financial planning services, the
provision of corporate finance advisory services, the trading of
securities and futures, the provision of finance, the provision of
factoring and finance leasing services, as well as investment
holding.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

RE|CHBMEZERERAR (IBRRE
RIFWABARAR]) R—EARFAERSEM
RIIZBRRA - ANRAZ EZERME
IR EBIEEBI5 P RAE38E -

FR-AEEIZRESRRGEE  BRER
HEFMIEELRS  RBHREE Bk
FREE RS RHERRELIIEM RS
R RECEMEBERRE BEEES R
HE  RHRE REREEBEHEERS
AR AR BRI -

ARAREEMBARIZFBOT:

el

Place of Issued
incorporation ordinary Percentage of equity Principal
Name and operations share capital attributable to the Company activities
£8 AR REF b E ERTEBRA ARAREREADL TEXEH
Direct Indirect
E# k3
Ambition Union Limited British Virgin Islands US$20,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
(the "BVI")/Hong Kong
SHERRA RERLHEE ([RE 20,000,000% 7T REER
RaESE]) /B
Eastern Sunny Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Provision of
management services
RIEBRAA £ BT RUEEBRY
Freeman Commodities Limited Hong Kong HK$35,000,000 - 100 Provision of futures
brokerage services
RRHEERAA &E  B%35,000,0007 REMELLRS
Freeman Corporate Finance Hong Kong HK$200,000 - 100 Provision of corporate
Limited finance advisory services
RRCERMEBRAA (AR e #1200,0007T R E RS BRERS
EEERMEARAA)
Freeman Corporation Limited Cayman Islands/ Us$38 - 100 Investment holding
Hong Kong
RRAERERAT mEeHs /B8 38%TT REERK

(ARRZERBERAF)

REETHMRERERAF
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Place of Issued
incorporation ordinary Percentage of equity Principal
Name and operations share capital attributable to the Company activities
£ AR EF ERTERRA ARAREREADL IEXHK
Direct Indirect
=k GikE3

Freeman Financial Investment Cayman Islands/ HK$48,000,000 100 - Investment holding
Corporation Hong Kong

Freeman Financial Investment REMRS /&% 548,000,000 REZR
Corporation

Freeman Financial Services Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
Limited

RREMRBBERDA (ATFE F&  #%10,000,0007T REER

2LREHERAR)

Freeman Prestige Wealth Hong Kong HK$200,000 - 100 Provision of brokerage
Management Limited (formerly services, financial
known as Harvest Financial planning and related
Services Limited) services

RREUMEERERAA 0 7 #200,0007T RELLIRY BHERE
(RSB REERAA) FAEBR%

Freeman Securities Limited Hong Kong HK$1,600,000,000 - 100 Securities brokerage,

placing, underwriting,
margin financing,
investment holding
and trading of
securities

RREHFERAA & B#1,600,000,0007 BRRL KE 88

FREE REERK

Freeman United Investments Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
Limited

Freeman United Investments EN BT REEK
Limited

Freeman Union Limited BVI/Hong Kong HK$846,717,951 - 100 Investment holding and

trading of securities

Freeman Union Limited KERLHEE/BE  5¥s846,717951T REBRREEES

Hansom Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$400,000,002 - 100 Provision of finance

BETBERAR A#F  %7%400,000,0027T RHEE

RERERBEHERE The People’s Republic 1$$30,000,000 - 100 Provision of factoring
BERAT* of China (the “PRC") service

mEARLRE 30,000,000% 7T RERERS
(rE])

AERRRERE ORI BR The PRC US$10,000,000 - 100 Provision of finance
AR* (RAIEATERAHERE leasing service
BE (RYDARAA) )

H 10,000,000 7T REMERERS

3 This entity is registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under * L ERARERBUEZIMAIIEEE

the PRC laws.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
(which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain
available-for-sale investments and investments at fair value
through profit or loss which have been measured at fair value.
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
where otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2017.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

ERFINZARBMNBRARREZTA RS
AEEZAFEEREATEXELBRA
SEEEFETIEARBO ZHMBRRF -
EEZRA WBEMMBARZHBERES
EYREBBRITE-

ZEMBRRDBRBEFRBGAMAE ([F
BEEI RS ) EM BB B RE LR
(TERMBHREEL]) (EFREMEE
BMBREEL FEGHER ([HFES
SRERDERE) BALAREFRAK
BARAMGHI c REREMBRR FRET
AHEEREREBBREUATFEIERZ
BEIN WETIRBELKAERE - %F
MBERERIAEEZ M SBEAIN T
BEEOHEEREOZ TREC

HAEMBRRE/ARALENE R A
(B AKEBE-_ZF—tF=H
ST -BUEFEZHBHRR -WERRR
ARAREEXARENIER (BEER
HER) BEAEEAIRNZELEFRE
NRIEB 2 A B ORIAR S BEHRIRE
NEZED (AASEREE THREE A
TERKREQNREBES 2R FRN)
BUFOHRE  BESES#E-

WARBEZEXEREEHIRERR TR
BRARZBZRERSIBUER B AE
BRFEEREHEBHRRERRZEN
HeZE —UHBEERER B8

(a) HEFERERAFEMEEEFBEAZE
g

(b) HMEOTHMELZEMN: &
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(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii)
the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective for the current accounting period of the
Group. None of these developments have had a material effect
on how the Group’s results and financial position for the
current or prior periods have been prepared or presented. The
Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that
is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

(0 AKREZERENEBELRR#E-

MEBRE M HmR I EARR R ER
BEPEER - FNSHARRRER -MEQ
AZEEEASERSENEEALEES
AZIEBIERIEZ B IEEA AR

BakEMEEBRAZSEXT D BBRA
SESREHEA AR ERED  BIEL
RN EEHEEM EAEE
RERRIZEXZHEBOMEREARBA
RIREENEE #m WA FAXERE
UDRDIS =N S EGY STk

=T MBRKRA Az HE =" R
EP-HXZELREY AAKEEE
ML ERS RN RREER -WEB AR
CHEEERER BN IESIE T
ARRIMERARZ 5 -

fiaf 7S 5 [ 5k 25 6 — FR] I B8 2 ) oz 42 1 4
AR IEROZMBRARZEE (BHEH
B)REE ()T SRR R 2 FREE R
(iR Em ARk REtELZ58  MER
(VB2 RFE (DREEFRE
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The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these financial statements.

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKAS 7
Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 40
HK(IFRIC)-Int 22

Financial Instruments?

Revenue from Contracts with Customers and the
related amendment?

Leases®

Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions?

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with
HKFRS 4 /nsurance Contracts?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture*

Clarifications to HKFRS 152

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle®

Disclosure Initiative'

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised
Losses'

Transfers of Investment Property?

Foreign currency transactions and advance
consideration?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

4 The original effective date has been deferred to a date yet to be
determined

B Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017

or 1 January 2018, as appropriate

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the
impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial
application but is not yet in a position to state whether these
new and revised HKFRSs would have a significant impact on its

financial statements.
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An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of
the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in a joint venture and an
associate are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at the Group's share of net assets under
the equity method of accounting, less any impairment
losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line any
dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of the associate and joint
ventures is included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the associate
or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any
changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its associate or
joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investments in the associate or joint ventures, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associate or joint ventures is
included as part of the Group’s investments in the
associates or joint ventures.
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If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in
a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other
cases, upon loss of significant influence over the associate
or join control over the joint venture, the Group measures
and recognised any retained investment at its fair value.
Any difference between the carrying amount of the
associate or joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the
retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for the control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.
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If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability
is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interest and any
fair value of the Group's previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.
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Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying
amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

The Group measures its available-for-sale investments and
equity investments at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using
the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
financial assets and deferred tax assets), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal,
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.
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An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;
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(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.
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Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such part as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over is estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Over the shorter of
the lease terms

Leasehold improvements

and 15%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 15%
Computer equipment 33'5%
Yacht 10%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each
part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives
and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at lease at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets
are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If
not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite
to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Trading rights represent the eligibility rights to trade on or
through The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) and Hong Kong Futures Exchange
Limited with indefinite useful lives. They are carried at
cost less any impairment losses.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Rentals payable under operating
leases are charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

A finance lease is a lease that the Group as the lessor
uses to transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of the leased asset to the lessee.
At the commencement of the lease term, the Group
recognises the minimum lease amounts receivable by the
Group as a finance lease receivable and records the
unguaranteed residual value as an asset within the same
category. The difference between (a) the aggregate of the
minimum lease amounts and the unguaranteed residual
value and (b) their present value (presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position as finance
lease receivables — net) is recognised as unearned finance
income. Minimum lease amounts are the payments over
the lease term that the lessee is or can be required to
make plus any residual value guaranteed to the lessor by
the lessee, or a party unrelated to the lessor.
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Unearned finance income is allocated to each period
during the lease term using the effective interest method
that allocates each rental between finance income and
repayment of capital in each accounting period in such a
way that finance income is recognised as a constant
periodic rate of return (implicit effective interest rate) on
the lessor’s net investment in the lease. Lease agreements
for which the base rent is based on floating interest rates
are included in minimum lease payments based on the
floating interest rate existing at the commencement of
the lease; any increase or decrease in lease payments that
result from subsequent changes on floating interest rate
is recorded as an increase or a decrease in finance lease
income in the period of the interest rate change.

Initial direct costs, such as commissions, legal fees and
internal costs that are incremental and directly
attributable to negotiating and arranging a lease, are
included in the initial measurement of the finance lease
receivable and reduce the amount of income recognised
over the lease term.

See Notes 2.4(i) and 2.4(j) for accounting policies for
derecognition and impairment of finance lease
receivables.

Financial assets of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and receivables and available-for-sale
financial investments, as appropriate. When financial
assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair
value plus transaction costs that are attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case of
financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or
loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as
held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
sale in the near term. Derivatives, including separated
embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments as defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the consolidated statement of financial position
at fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. These net fair
value changes do not include any dividends on these
financial assets, which are recognised in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the date
of initial recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39
are satisfied.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for
as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are
not held for trading or designated as at fair value through
profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Reassessment
only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the
contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that
would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a
financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.
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Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method less any allowance for
impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and
includes fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in other income and gains in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. The loss arising
from impairment is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments
and debt securities. Equity investments classified as
available for sale are those which are neither classified as
held for trading nor designated as at fair value through
profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those
which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of
time and which may be sold in response to needs for
liquidity or in response to changes in market conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial
investments are subsequently measured at fair value, with
unrealised gains or losses recognised as other
comprehensive income in the available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserve until the investment is derecognised,
at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss in other
income, or until the investment is determined to be
impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified
from the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Interest
and dividends earned whilst holding the available-for-sale
financial investments are reported as interest income and
dividend income respectively and are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”
below.
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When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot
be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the
range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for
that investment or (b) the probabilities of the various
estimates within the range cannot be reasonably assessed
and used in estimating fair value, such investments are
stated at cost less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to
sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term
are still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the
Group is unable to trade these financial assets due to
inactive markets, the Group may elect to reclassify these
financial assets if management has the ability and
intention to hold the assets for the foreseeable future or
until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale
category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been
recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the
remaining life of the investment using the effective
interest rate. Any difference between the new amortised
cost and the maturity amount is also amortised over the
remaining life of the asset using the effective interest
rate. If the asset is subsequently determined to be
impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is
reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.
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A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (that is, removed from
the Group's consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the
maximum amount of consideration that the Group could
be required to repay.
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The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment
exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of
impairment may include indications that a debtor or a
group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation and observable data
indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses whether impairment exists individually for
financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the
asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assesses them for
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or
continues to be, recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not yet been
incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash
flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (that is, the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition).
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The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly
or through the use of an allowance account and the loss
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the
reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest used
to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off
when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and
all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to
the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off
is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other
expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is
not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be
reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets
are not reversed.

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that an investment or a group
of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair
value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, is removed
from other comprehensive income and recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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In the case of equity investments classified as available for
sale, objective evidence would include a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment
below its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the
original cost of the investment and “prolonged” against
the period in which the fair value has been below its
original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the
cumulative loss — measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that investment previously recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss — is
removed from other comprehensive income and
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
Impairment losses on equity instruments classified as
available for sale are not reversed through the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Increases in their
fair value after impairment are recognised directly in
other comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged”
requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration or extent to
which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and borrowings.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.
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Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A
financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the
amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period; and (ii) the amount initially recognised
less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or
the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at
fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair
value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value
is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is
negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
financial position, cash and bank balances comprise cash
on hand and at banks, including term deposits, which are
not restricted as to use.

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in finance costs in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation
authority.
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Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a)

income from the sale of equity and debt securities,
on a trade-date basis;

dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established;

interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or
a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset;

insurance brokerage income, on the inception of the
associated insurance policy;

corporate finance advisory income, when the
relevant services have been rendered;

commission and brokerage income from securities
and futures dealings, on a trade-date basis;

underwriting and placing commission income, when
the relevant services have been rendered;

factoring income, when the relevant services have
been rendered; and

finance lease income, under finance lease is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss using the effective interest rate implicit in the
lease over the term of the lease. Contingent rent is
recognised as income in the period in which it is
earned.
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The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and/or rewards to eligible
participants (including the Company’s directors and other
employees of the Group and of the investee entities, and
any consultant, advisor or agent engaged by or business
partners of any member of the Group or any investee
entity), who render services and/or contribute to the
success of the Group's operations. Employees (including
directors) and advisors of the Group receive remuneration
in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees/advisors render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference
to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a
binomial model. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no
account is taken of any performance conditions, other
than conditions linked to the price of the shares of the
Company (“market conditions”), if applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions with non-
employees is measured by reference to the fair value of
the services received at the date they are received. Where
the market information for the services provided by non-
employees cannot be reliably determined, the fair value of
the share options granted at the date when the services
are received is applied as a surrogate measure. In this
case, the fair value of the share options is determined by
external valuers using a binomial model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The
cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
The charge or credit to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and
end of that period.
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Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions
being met is assessed as part of the Group's best estimate
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached
to an award, but without an associated service
requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions.
Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of
an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have not
been met, no expenses is recognised. Where awards
include a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether
the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employees/advisors as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or the
employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.
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The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations as further explained in the accounting policy
for “Share-based payments” above.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group's employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme.

Pursuant to the relevant PRC laws and regulations,
each of the PRC subsidiaries of the Group is required
to participate in a retirement benefit scheme organised
by the local municipal government whereby the Group
is required to contribute a certain percentage of the
salaries of its employees to the retirement benefit
scheme. Contributions made to the defined contribution
retirement benefit scheme are charged to the statement
of profit or loss as incurred.

All borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollar, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements of
each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in
the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the
gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (that is,
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currency of certain PRC subsidiaries is
Renminbi. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into
Hong Kong dollar at the exchange rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period and their statements of profit
or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollar at the
average exchange rates for the year. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of PRC subsidiaries are translated
into Hong Kong dollar at the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the cash flows.
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The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

The Group maintains an allowance for the estimated loss
arising from the inability of its borrowers to make the
required payments. The Group makes its estimates based
on the ageing of its receivable balances, borrowers’
creditworthiness and historical write-off experience. If the
financial condition of its borrowers were to deteriorate so
that the actual impairment loss might be higher than
expected, the Group would be required to revise the basis
of making the allowance and its future results would be
affected.

The provision for impairment of notes and accounts
receivable of the Group is based on the evaluation of
collectibility and the ageing analysis of the receivables
and on the judgement of management. A considerable
amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate
realisation of these receivables, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history of the
customers. Management reassesses the estimation
regularly throughout the reporting period.
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For unlisted available-for-sale investments measured at
fair value, the Group recognises movement of their fair
values in equity. When the fair value declines,
management makes assumptions about the decline in
value to determine whether there is an impairment that
should be recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For unlisted available-for-sale investments measured at
cost, the Group makes the judgement as to whether
there is an objective evidence of impairment exists based
on the investee's financial conditions and business
prospects, including industry environment, as well as
operating and financing cash flows. This requires a
significant level of management judgement which would
affect the amount of impairment losses in the profit or
loss.

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are
tested for impairment annually and at other times when
such an indicator exists. Other non-financial assets
including investments in an associate and a joint venture
are tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or
a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less
costs of disposal is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations
are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit
and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows.
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Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based
upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits
together with future tax planning strategies. The amount of
unrecognised tax losses at 31 March 2017 was
HK$1,537,184,000 (2016: HK$1,372,175,000). Further
details are contained in note 26 to these financial
statements.

The Group conducted purchase price allocation based on
the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities in
the relevant business of the acquisition date. The fair
value of relevant identifiable assets and liabilities are
assessed by the independent valuer based on the business
forecasts and the key assumptions provided by the
management and the adoption of the appropriate
valuation methodology.

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their services and has reportable
operating segments as follows:

(a) trading of securities and futures segment engages in the
purchase and sale of securities and futures investments;

(b) provision of finance segment engages in the provision of
financing services in Hong Kong;
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(c) insurance brokerage business segment engages in
insurance brokerage business and provision of financial
planning and related services;

(d) securities and futures brokerage, placing, underwriting
and margin financing segment engages in provision of
securities and futures brokerage services, provision of
placing, underwriting and margin financing in Hong
Kong;

(e) factoring and finance leasing segment engages in the
provision of factoring and finance leasing services and
related activities;

(f) investment holding segment engages in holding
investments for continuing strategic or long term
purposes, primarily for dividend income and capital
appreciation; and

(g) corporate finance advisory segment engages in the
provision of corporate finance advisory services and
related activities.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax.
The adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is measured consistently
with the Group's profit/(loss) before tax except that bank and
other interest income (excluding interest income from the
provision of finance, margin financing and factoring and
finance leasing activities), finance costs as well as head office
and corporate expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Intersegment transactions are made with reference to the
prices used for services made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.

No analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by operating
segments was provided to management for review during the
years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016 for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, a new operating
segment was presented upon completion of the acquisition of
a wholly-owned subsidiary, together with its subsidiaries,
principally engaged in factoring and finance leasing business.
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Notes to Financial Statements
Bt 7% 3 3} B &

Year ended 31 March 2017 HZ2=ZF—++=HA=+—HIFEF

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4. BB HWEH »)

Year ended 31 March 2017/As at 31 March 2017 BE—+E=ZA=+—-HLEE RN
—EZ—+t&=A=+—H
Securities,
and futures
brokerage,
placing, Factoring
Trading of Insurance  underwriting and Corporate
securities Provision brokerage  and margin finance  Investment finance
and futures  of finance business financing leasing holding advisory Total
25N
ggag.
#5R RBEL EE-ARR RER bERE
H588 RitaE £ HRE HERE REBR BB &8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B8t BRI BT B8t BRI BT B8TT BB
Segment revenue: AENE:
Sales to external customers HNIEFH#E
Interseqment sales PEHHE
Reconciliation: g
Elimination of intersegment sales 7 B &% i
Total revenue et
Segment results: PE%E
Reconciliation: #E:
Bank interest income FAFSMA
Other interest income EHSRA
Corporate and other unallocated ~~ REREMFSEAT
expenses
Finance costs BERE
Profit before tax RHaLER
Other segment information: EpSEEH:

Share of losses of an associate
Share of profits of a joint venture

HE-ERELAER
Al-BagRAEN

Depreciation i

- operating segment -EEenE

- unallocated -FHR
Investment in an associate BENRZRE
Investment in a joint venture w- é%’RTZhé
Available-for-sale investments ARNERE
Capital expenditure BRER

- operating segment _AEHE

- deposits (non-current portion)
- unallocated

-fé (FAEHH)
-A3E

* The amounts represented additions to property, plant and

equipment.
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Year

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Notes to Financial Statements

ended 31 March 2017 EZ =%

B RS 3R R B

4. EEFWAR (o)

Year ended 31 March 2016/As at 31 March 2016 BE-Z-—XREZA=+—-BLEE R
—E-R"E=ZRA=+—H
Securities,
and futures
brokerage,
placing,
Trading of Insurance  underwriting Corporate
securities Provision brokerage  and margin  Investment finance
and futures of finance business financing holding advisory Total
EEY
B R
BRR RBREL EE BER tERE
HEEE  RitRE £%  FERE REARRK ER ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEfr  B¥TT  RETm E%TRn BT BETn BT
Segment revenue: PENE:
Sales to external customers HNBERPHE (318,876) 36,122 76,406 56,446 - 5,950 (143,952)
Intersegment sales PEREE - - - 21,000 - - 21,000
(318,876) 36,122 76,406 77,446 - 5,950 (122,952)
Reconcilition: HE:
Elimination of intersegment sales 2 BRIHE 21,000
Total revenue lhgarcks (143,952)
Segment results NEXE (197,691) 34837 4425 28293 (253982) 5853 (378,269)
Reconciliation: HE:
Bank interest income RITFIEHA 1
Other interest income A2 HA 304
Corporate and other unallocated ~~ AFREHESEES
eXpenses (17,580)
Finance costs HERA (9,085)
Loss before tax REAER (404,625)
Other segment information: B2 EER:
Share of profits and losses of an AE-HBELARGELDE
associate and joint ventures, net FIREREE - - - - (215,959) - (215,959)
Depreciation ik
- operating segment -BENE - - - (184) (4,029) - (4213)
- unallocated -AAHE (723)
(4,936)
Investment in an associate R-EBERACRE - - - - 707,309 - 707,309
Investment in a joint venture R-HAERAZIRE - - - - 129,951 - 129,951
Capital expenditure BRFR
- operating segment -BENE - - - 504 84,544 - 85,048
- unallocated -AAR 65
85,113*
* Capital expenditure represented additions to property, plant and * BARYERBYYE BELK
equipment.
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The geographical location of customers is based on the
location at which the services are rendered. The Group’s
operations are principally located in Hong Kong and the PRC.
Substantially over 90% of the Group's revenue from external
customers, non-current assets (exclude financial instruments
and deferred tax assets) and capital expenditure are located in
Hong Kong, and therefore no analysis on revenue from external
customers and non-current assets by location are presented.

Included in revenue arising from major customers which
individually accounted for over 10% of the Group’s revenue for
the year:

BERP 2N E TR IR 2 i # &
DoARENEBRETEMNBTE LT
o AEREE0% KRB INBEF 2 Yaak » 3F
RBEE(TEERERITARRERESR
) MERFXARES Bl &2 R/IZ
WEE D KRB INEEP 2 W R IR S
BEMM-

BREXRAFERP 2K SHAEE
AEFEWZERIBEI0% :

2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Insurance brokerage business R LET
Customer A EFPA 30,397 71,375

The Group’s dividend income and losses from the sale of
investments at fair value through profit or loss are excluded
from total revenue for the purpose of identifying major
customers of the Group who accounted for over 10% of the
Group's revenue.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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Revenue represents interest income earned from the provision
of finance; dividend income from investments at fair value
through profit or loss; net losses from the sale of investments
at fair value through profit or loss; insurance brokerage
income; corporate finance advisory fee; commission and
brokerage income from securities and futures dealings;
commission from underwriting and placing services; interest
income on margin financing activities; factoring interest income
and finance lease interest income during the year.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains, net is as
follows:

WaEFARUBERS ZHEWA B
BEZARFEINFZRE ZBREWA:
HEBBRAURAFEIRZKREZER
FECRREREA CERERRE E
HEHMEEEME MELWA B R
ERBAEE FREERBZHEUWA A
RREBAMBEWARBEHENSWA -

Bk

Yas  H A RKEFEZMAT

2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Revenue g
Interest income from provision of REREFFEMNSWA

finance 14,841 36,122
Dividend income from investments at FEBEZARAFEINEZRE 2

fair value through profit or loss A% B A 33,020 35,249
Losses from the sale of investments at H & & BBz AAFEY R Z&

fair value through profit or loss, net & 2 E518;%%8 (ff:ta)

(note a) (51,923) (354,125)
Insurance brokerage income R B 48 48 I A 36,082 76,406
Corporate finance advisory fee TERERNE = 5,950
Commission and brokerage income  #EHFNMPEEERE® RELWA

from securities and futures dealings 15,725 6,262
Commission from underwriting and B # R EERGEH S

placing services 16,970 30,058
Interest income on margin financing  FFE & & & &) 2 A B UL A

activities 36,925 20,126
Factoring interest income IREBF B UA 5,807 -
Finance lease interest income REEERN S WA 838 -

108,285 (143,952)
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2017 2016
—E—+F —ET—RF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BET T BT T
Other income and gains, net HiW A R W& F5
Bank interest income HRITH B WA 7 1
Other interest income H R B A 18,772 304
Dividend handling charge and other A& BRI & & H M hn&
surcharges 1,164 1,103
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale & Al H & & 7 W25 /5 58
investments, net - 80,601
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEWE  HEK&EEE 2z
plant and equipment - 4,485
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net H&N B QG 2 WS FEE 31 151,005 -
Gain on deemed disposal of an BIEHE — M 2R 2w
associate 705 -
Gain on deemed disposal of a joint  RIEHE —MAEE QA Z W
venture 1,140 -
Forfeited income (note b) B8 WA (BT iEb ) 150,000 -
Foreign exchange differences, net HINPE 2= BB JF RE 2,013
Others H A 2,788 7,779
327,594 94,273
Notes: B2
(a)  The gross proceeds from sale of investments at fair value through (@ FRHEEBBEZALNTEINRZREM

profit or loss for the year were approximately HK$639,766,000
(2016: HK$3,185,830,000).

(b)  The recognition of forfeited income is in relation to a proposed
disposal of the entire interest in a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company (the “Proposed Disposal”). Conditions precedent to
the sale and purchase agreement in relation to the Proposed
Disposal became incapable of being fulfilled and the Proposed
Disposal lapsed. Accordingly, the Group recognised a forfeited
income of HK$150,000,000 during the year ended 31 March
2017.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

BRIEREL 7,%/%5 m39,766,0007c (=
T — N4 B 13,185,830,0007T) ©

ERERWEA S RRELEARRR —H
2EWMBARZZMER ((ERHES
A -BERREEREAENEERH
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The Group's profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/

ARBZBBRAERN (BR)ZME/

(crediting): (st )
2017 2016
—E—+F —ZE—RF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BT T BT T
Depreciation e 12 945 4,936
Employee benefit expenses (excluding EE®ABEZ (TBEESHE
directors’ remuneration (note 8)): (B1aE8) )
Salaries and allowances e KOEBRL 19,029 8,640
Retirement benefit scheme RNEHMETEI MR (FEH
contributions (defined RETE]) *
contribution scheme)* 466 310
19,495 8,950
Auditor’s remuneration ZE AT 2,000 2,550
Minimum lease payments under RIBKERA 2 HIEHERIEA
operating leases 16,810 7,936
Equity-settled share option expense — AMEZR A& 7 AR 7 L 28 - 23,082
Deemed losses/(gains) on changes in A& QAR REE AR 2 RiESE
shareholding interests in joint B) 2 RIEEE, (e ) /FEE*~
ventures and associates, net** (1,845) 88,223
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEWE BENMREEB ZE
property, plant and equipment B (haE) 559 (4,485)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of subsidiaries, HEMB AR ZEE, (W)
net** HEE** 31 (151,005) 642
* At 31 March 2017, the Group had no material forfeited * RZE—tF=A=+—HB A5EELE

contributions available to reduce its contributions to the

retirement benefit scheme in future years (2016: Nil).

**  These balances are included in “Other income and gains, net” *

and "Other expenses, net” for the years ended 31 March 2017

and 31 March 2016, respectively, in the consolidated statement

of profit or loss.

ERXRBERAARBEDERREEZR
RENETEER (T —REF &) -

REERDHFAABRE_ZT—LF=H
=t —HRZZE-RE=ZA=1+—HBILF
BiERGRERP [HMA R 8E]
T [E A5 F 8] A e
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2017 2016

ZE—+tF —E-RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Interests on other loans BEMERZFE 29,920 9,085

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the
Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies

THRRELDHRA FERBEDE
383(1)a)~ (b) (O RDER AR (HEES
Mz ER) R OB 28 R 2 F NE F B

(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) &
Regulation, is as follows:
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Fees e 664 600
Other emoluments: EME -
Salaries and other benefits e LEMmEF 5,723 4114
Retirement benefit scheme contributions — EREFIFHEIHR (FEER
(defined contribution scheme) &) 134 120
Equity-settled share option expense NS EERE X = 6,708
5,857 10,942
6,521 11,542

During the year ended 31 March 2016, certain directors were
granted share options in respect of their services to the Group
under the share option scheme of the Company, further details
of which are set out in note 28 to the financial statements. The
fair value of such options, which has been recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, was determined as at
the date of grant and the amount included in the financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2016 is included in
the above directors’ remuneration disclosures.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

BE _ZT-—R"F=ZA=T—RHLFE &
TEEREARABREAZURE/AE
SENRGERTEBEE £ PHEH
R IRR M 28 - RS BREE NEA
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 7% 3R R M =
Year ended 31 March 2017 B Z2=F—+F=A=+—HI F&F
8. DIRECTORS’' REMUNERATION (Continued) 8. EXM& »)
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIAIKHTES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FAENBYIERTEZT 2RSS
during the year were as follows: i
2017 2016
—T—+tF —E-RF
Fees Fees
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Mr. Cheung Wing Ping REEF A 120
Mr. Fung Tze Wa'## R EE S A e -
Mr. Wu Keli## MR5e 7] F v -
Mr. Xu Zhiguang### wmER G E -
Mr. Chung Yuk Lun* EB B 120
Mr. Hung Cho Sing** k18 2 S A 240
Dr. Agustin V. Que** Agustin V. Quef§ +# 120
600
# Resigned on 21 June 2016 # RZE-RERAZ+—HEE
#  Resigned on 25 January 2017 "R ZE-—LEFE-AZTHBEME
##  Appointed on 20 October 2016 mwoORZE-—RETAZTHEZME
##  Appointed on 25 January 2017 it RN _E—+FE-A-THAEZME
There were no other emoluments payable to the FRWEENBIIEMITER 2 EM
independent non-executive directors during the year e (ZFE—RE &)
(2016: Nil).
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Notes to Financial Statements

B # RR M RE
Year ended 31 March 2017 #Z2 -F—+#F=HA=+—HIFE
8. DIRECTORS’' REMUNERATION (cContinued) 8. EXEM& »)
(b) Executive directors and non-executive director (b) BITEERIHITESE
Retirement Equity-
Salaries benefit settled
and other scheme  share option Total
Fee benefits contributions expense remuneration
&R BINEF DEREE
ne Hen @A HEMR BREZEX Mems
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETT BT T BT T BT T
2017 —E—+F
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Yang Haoying*** GBS
Ms. Chow Mun Yee BEE A
Mr. Wang Xiaodong*** ~ TEER L *++
Mr. Zhao Tong*** iR Sk
Mr. Lo Kan Sun* EEHTAES
Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong — FTEER 4+
Hei**

Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue*  flfEL+*

Non-executive director:  JFHITES:
Mr. Zhang Yongdong**** 2R sk 3 5 H * v+

2016 —ERF
Executive directors: HTES:
Mr. Lo Kan Sun EEHMEE - 1,008 50 - 1,058
Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei #FERE %4 - 1,518 18 3,354 4,890
Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue RgER L - 678 34 - 712
Ms. Chow Mun Yee Fer5/ A - 910 18 3,354 4,282
- 4114 120 6,708 10,942
* Resigned on 25 January 2017 * RZE—tF—A-THBEME
**  Resigned on 24 January 2017 o RZT—EF-A-TOHEE
***  Appointed on 20 October 2016 Rk RNTTZ-RETAZTHEZAR
**** Appointed on 18 July 2016 and resigned on 25 January e WIB-RNELATNAEZER
2017 RZZE—tF—-A-+HABE
There was no arrangement under which a director waived FRATEEASEENEXRBENES
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year MMENREE(ZE—REFE &) -
(2016: Nil).
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The five highest paid employees during the year included five
(2016: four) directors, details of whose remuneration are set
out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year
of remaining nil (2016: one) highest paid employee who is not
a director of the Company is as follows:

FAAUGRHEEBELL (ZT—R
FoO)ES AWM FBEEN L XXM
B FANMTNEM (ZE—RF: —fr) W3k
ARPMEEzZERaFEEZHSFHIBN
T

2017 2016

—E—tF —E-RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Salaries and other benefits Fe hEMER - 600
Pension scheme contributions RIRET B R - 18
- 618

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of
the Group are domiciled and operates.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the BVI and Cayman
Islands, the Group is not subject to any income tax in the BVI
and Cayman Islands respectively.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2016: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the year.

Under the law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the "EIT
Tax") and Interpretation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

AEEAZERLELAIRE AKEK
B R R M {E AT M AR & PR RDARE [ A ) A
BMREH -

REXBREAHEMFAERENMRA L
BoASREBAGCRBRIESENHASE
SRMNERFTER-

BEENESHIIIEHREI165% (ZF— K
F:16.5% ) WFERNRBEBELE Z(HFTER
FomFIET e o

RIBPRHPEMSH ([DEMER] ) ER
CEMEHEE IO BB R RH
FREA25% °

2017 2016
—E—tF —E-REF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT I
Current 7K Bf

Charge for the year RFEEZH
— Hong Kong -&BH 1,924 11,197
_ the PRC s 318 _
Overprovision in prior years BEFEHERE (8,317) (225)
Deferred (note 26) R (PFFE26) (3,938) (38,131)
Total tax credit for the year AREFEERIBIE B ETE (10,013) (27,159)
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A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to profit/(loss)
before tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate to the tax
charge/(credit) at the Group's effective tax rate is as follows:

T BB BRER KRB Z BB AR )
/(B8 BA 2 HIER R AR EHE R
BEFHEZREIH,(ER) 28R

2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BET T
Profit/(loss) before tax BRBALER, (B7) 408,195 (404,625)
Tax charge/(credit) at the Hong Kong BEBEEREI16.5%FE 2
statutory tax rate of 16.5% BMESH,/ (ER) 67,352 (66,763)
Effect of different taxation rate used in Hp e ZE8EREATABENTE
other jurisdiction 138 -
Adjustments in respect of current tax of L RTHIRE 2 VAR 18 2 S B
previous periods (8,301) (225)
Income not subject to tax HERR 2 WA (112,012) (5,817)
Expenses not deductible for tax AT H0H B 2 11,481 21,287
Temporary differences not recognised AR ERZHE (480) 42
Tax losses utilised from previous periods BHRBTHRcBHBER (104) (26,430)
Tax losses not recognised RERZBIBEIE 27,331 15,114
Tax effect of share of results of DEEERTIRBE RN EBE I MBEE
joint ventures and associates 4,582 35,633
Tax credit at the Group's effective tax rate BRASB s ERBENE ZREBERSE (10,013) (27,159)

The share of tax charge attributable to an associate amounting
to HK$289,000 (2016: tax credit of HK$19,000) and share of
tax charge attributable to a joint venture amounting to
HK$1,129,000 (2016: HK$181,000), respectively are included
in “Share of profits and losses of an associate and joint
ventures, net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
for the year ended 31 March 2017.

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share
amounts is based on the profit for the year attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the Company of
HK$418,208,000 (2016: loss of HK$620,996,000), and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
14,324,137,300 (2016: 10,335,066,262) in issue during
the year.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

b — B E A B 2 BTA S 289,000
T (ZE—RF:HIEEK R B 19,0007T)
HBAoE—HeERARZHEL R BE
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) DRt ABE_E—+F=A=+—
HIEFEHFEBEERF (G —HBEERQ
AIREE NG REEFE]A-

BREARAN(BE)SEIRA
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Notes to Financial Statements

Eﬂ%i&%@[ﬁﬁﬁi

Year ended 31 March 2017 &£ =

11. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 11. &/ \‘Jﬂﬁﬂamhﬁkﬂ%{ﬁ’ﬁ

ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY

HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
(b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (b)

(i)  Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to owners

BEH A (BR) #

SRBERA(FHR)
KR AEE NN EFEEF

of the Company (diluted) BB (#F)
2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners (diluted) #EH AFEIEHF/ (EE) (#% 418,208 (620,996)
(ii) Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) BERMEFHE (#E)
2017 2016
—E—tF —T-RF

Weighted average number of ordinary BRFIESBRELRZF, (&

shares for the purpose of basic B)z L@ IMEFEH
earnings/(loss) per share
Effect of grant of share options* T‘EE%J&%Z%%*

Effect of issue of First Warrants and
Second Warrants* E R

Weighted average number of ordinary R

shares for the purpose of diluted B) 2 L@ T
earnings/(loss) per share
* No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per

share amount presented for the year ended 31
March 2016 in respect of a dilution as the impact of
first warrants (a total of 1,376,551,640 unlisted
transferable warrants issued on 26 June 2015 at an
exercise price of HK$0.382 (the “First Warrants”))
and share options outstanding had an anti-dilutive
effect on the basic loss per share amount presented,
or the exercise price of second warrants (a total of
688,275,820 unlisted transferable warrants issued
on 26 June 2015 at an exercise price of HK$0.489
(the “Second Warrants”)) was higher than the
average market price of the ordinary shares of the
Company during the year and Second Warrants had
no dilutive effect on the basic loss per share amount
presented. The basic and diluted loss per share are
the same.

TITE R RAAERE M3 R

14,324,137,300 10,335,066,262
2,797,869 -

8,393,607 -

rEskEERN (&

14,335,328,776 10,335,066,262

TEREE T —"F=A
=+—BIEFEEZHRNTRE
AEBESBELBSARE R
ERARITES EFH R EE
(R=ZZE—AF~A=+H
BEITEITEE AA 503827
2 A #£1,376,551,64019 3F £
maERAREE ([EHR
ARAERE ]) ) K B A e Tﬁﬁ}_i&
WERERNEBLSEARRE
SEE . WE HRREET
FESNRFEANRQB L BN
B RE R ES
(RZZE—HFXAZ+XH
BELTETTE(E AA50.4897T
2 & $688,275,82015 JE £
A ERREE ([E R
MRAEE ) ) HIT 2N ERE
AEESBETERSYE -5
AREAR KB EEIEAER -

REETHMRERERAF
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Notes to Financial Statements

BF 7 3Rk MY et
Year ended 31 March 2017 HZ2=ZF—++=HA=+—HIFEF
12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. 9% - BEREH
Furniture,
Leasehold  fixtures and Computer
improvements equipment equipment Yacht Total
BR-RER
HENFEE B ERGEE iid i B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BETT BE¥TR BETT BE¥%TR
31 March 2017 “B2-t¥ZA=t-H
At 1 April 2016: RZE—RFHA—R:
Cost A

Accumulated depreciation 2EFE

Net carrying amount REHE
At 1 April 2016, net of RZZE-RENA-A:
accumulated depreciation Mk R4 E
Additions NE
Disposal/written off HE/HiH
Acquisition of a subsidiary ~ WEE—FINE AR
Depreciation provided FNZNERE

during the year

At 31 March 2017, net of R_Z—+F

accumulated depreciation =A=+—-8"
MR RAE
At 31 March 2017: RZE—tF
=A=t+-A:
Cost AR

Accumulated depreciation 2EHTE

Net carrying amount EEFE
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Furniture,

Leasehold fixtures and Computer
improvements equipment equipment Yacht Total
B -RER
HEMERE R ERE B BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BB BB BETL BB
31 March 2016 “E-REZA=t-H
At 1 April 2015: RZE-R§NA—H:
Cost KA 714 5,201 1,692 - 7,607
Accumulated depreciation ZitiTE (694) (3,670) (1,486) - (5,850)
Net carrying amount REFE 20 1,531 206 - 1,757
At 1 April 2015, net of RZE-REMA-A"
accumulated deprediation NGB 2FTE 20 1,531 206 - 1,757
Additions NE - 40 529 84,544 85,113
Disposal & - - - (80,515) (80,515)
Depreciation provided FRZTERE
during the year (20) (683) (204) (4,029) (4,936)
At 31 March 2016, net of RZB-A"EZA=1+-8"
accumulated deprediation MhEE - 888 531 - 1419
At 31 March 2016: RZE-"E=fA=1-R:
Cost A 714 5,241 2,221 - 8,176
Accumulated depreciation ZitihE (714) (4,353) (1,690) - (6,757)
Net carrying amount FHFE - 888 531 - 1419
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2017 2016

—E—tF —T-RF

HK$°000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Share of net assets DIhEEEE 663,461 707,309

Particulars of the associate of the Group at 31 March 2017 are
as follows:

Place of
Particulars of issued  incorporation and
Name shares held business
P 17 IRV
=L R iD= 15 EE S

RZE—+F=A=+—HB KAEE 2
15

BRRFEWOT

)-//

Percentage of
ownership
interest
attributable to

the Group Principal activity
REEERL
BEAEZADL FEEH

Freewill Holdings Limited  Ordinary share without Republic of Marshall

("Freewill") par value Islands/Hong Kong
Freewill Holdings Limited T {E 2 & 8% SRRBSHME
(TFreewill |) N

The above investment is indirectly held by the Company.
Freewill and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
investment holding and money lending business.

Freewill was accounted for as a joint venture prior to the
termination of the joint venture arrangement in July 2015,
after which date Freewill was classified as an associate.

As at 31 March 2016, the Group’s shareholding interest in
Freewill was diluted to approximately 31.83% after further
allotments of new ordinary shares to new investors by Freewill.
A net loss of approximately HK$88,188,000 resulting from the
change in shareholding interests in Freewill was recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended
31 March 2016.

As at 31 March 2017, the Group’s shareholding interest in
Freewill was diluted to approximately 30.44% after further
allotments of new ordinary shares to a new investor by
Freewill. A net gain of approximately HK$705,000 resulting
from the changes in shareholding interests in Freewill was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for
the year ended 31 March 2017.

The financial results of Freewill are accounted for using equity
method.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

30.44 Investment holding

RERR

LR EBRARRBEEEE o Freewill R &
MBARTEREREZBRLREEER-

HEEAEELTHR T —HFEAKIER
Freewill/E & & & R BIALR © 18 Freewill#f
ba =1 /N

fEFreewill TG EEE — PR BEN LT BR
B R-_E—RNFZA=1+—8 xEER
FreewillZ IR EE#E 2= 4931.83% - AR
Freewill (IR EE B E AW BB FEOBE
88,188,0007T ° Fai—ffﬂi—ﬁ
Z+—HIEFENGAERKRER

EFreewillﬁ*%%ﬂiﬁ%t**ﬁﬂ?"%ﬁjﬁ
K RZZE—+tF=A=+—0 1%
IB’\FreeWHIZHQ%%E #4930.44% ° A
A Freewil | F) AR & B 5 A ) W &5 ) F BB 4078
¥705,000  REBIZE =T —LH=H
T+ —HUEFENGEBREAER

Freewil |89 81 7% S 48 (8 R i 2 A ABR o



The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of Freewill adjusted for any differences in
accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying amount in

the consolidated financial statements:

T&RF RFreewill Z B ERRZ (B3t e
ABERZERIFLFBY B M BRE
2 BREEER)

2017 2016

—E—tF —E-RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Current assets MENEE 193,515 2,521

Non-current assets EREBEE 2,141,954 2,454,654

Current liabilities mBBE (155,900) (235,029)

Net assets BEFE 2,179,569 2,222,146
Reconciliation to the Group's interest in HR N £ B A Freewill 2 fE 2 31 B ¢

Freewill:

Proportion of the Group’s ownership & E AR 30.44% 31.83%

Carrying amount of the investment KEREE 663,461 707,309

Revenue Wz (42,279) (122,410)

Loss for the year REEBE (108,449) (824,228)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) HEiemk A (EE) 50,301 (27,966)

Total comprehensive loss for the year AFEE2HEEBERE (58,148) (852,194)

The following table illustrates the Group's share of Freewill’s
profit and loss and other comprehensive income/(loss):

TRIRAE B D (EFreewill 2 S 7| & E 18
AREMEEmWA (EE) :

2017 2016
—E—+tHF —E-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ok v
Share of profit of a joint venture DE—HEE R R&R T - 239,660
Share of loss of an associate o — B E N R E B (33,484) (435,605)
(33,484) (195,945)
Share of other comprehensive loss of a joint D6 —EAE A EtE2mER

venture - (3,212)

Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) H 15—t & A A H M2 EUEA
of an associate (E518) 15,822 (6,159)
15,822 (9,371)

REETHMRERERAF
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2017 2016

—E—+tF —E-RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T
Share of net assets DIHEERE 136,804 129,951
Particulars of the joint venture of the Group at 31 March 2017 N-_E—tFE=ZA=+—H AEEALZ
are as follows: RNAEZ BT

Percentage of
Place of UTEEZBDL
Particulars of issued  incorporation and Ownership Voting Profit
Name shares held business interest power sharing Principal activity
e 8T AR BEEA
£ LS EEME s RER BRAK ETEEH
FreeOpt Holdings Ordinary share without Republic of Marshall 39.16 33.33 39.16 Investment holding
Limited (“FreeOpt") par value Islands/Hong Kong
FreeOpt Holdings EEELER SHRRES REER
Limited ( [ FreeOpt | ) ®AE/EFE

The above investment is indirectly held by the Company. PR EBRARRQGIEERE © FreeOpt 2 H
FreeOpt and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in MEARFZREREFBRREEES-
investment holding and money lending business.
As at 31 March 2017, the Group's shareholding interest in fEFreeOptiE — TR EFE BRE KR _F
FreeOpt was diluted to approximately 39.16% after further —tF=ZA=+—H KEENRFreeOptHy
allotments of new ordinary shares by FreeOpt. The net gain of BN HEEETLN339.16% - FARAER
approximately HK$1,140,000 resulting from the change in FreeOptHy AR E E B E A M IR FREL A
shareholding interests in FreeOpt during the year was 1,140,000 REBE=_FT—+tF = A
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for =S t—BILFENGaBERRER.
the year ended 31 March 2017.
The financial results of FreeOpt are accounted for using equity FreeOptZ B TS E I AR IEANER ©

method.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED



TRV RFreeOptZ B ERBE (Bt e
ABERZ ZBERART B AMERE

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of FreeOpt adjusted for any differences in

accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements:

2 BREEER) -

2017 2016
ZE—+tF —E-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Current assets MEEE 352,679 313,207
Current liabilities mEAaE (3,332) (449)
Net assets FEE 349,347 312,758
Included in the above assets: BEREREE:
Cash and cash equivalents HeEMBREEEY 6,437 5,549
Reconciliation to the Group's interest in the EARE BN AL RN A 2R H R
joint venture:
Proportion of the Group's ownership & E A RO 39.16% 41.55%
Carrying amount of the investment KERBE 136,804 129,951
Revenue Wz 17,653 2,658
Profit/(loss) for the year/period FEHBEER (BE) 14,589 (48,242)
Included in the above profit: BERELMER
Income tax expense Fri5 2 2,884 436

The following table illustrated the Group’s share of FreeOpt's

TRIRASEE 5 (FFreeOpt i ) & &

profit and loss: B

2017 2016
—E—tF ZE-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Share of profit/(loss) of a joint venture Sh—BEE AR, (EBB) 5,713 (20,014)
HK$'000
BT T

Cost at 31 March 2016, 1 April 2016 and RZ-ZE—ARF=ZA=+—H ZZ2— X "FNA—HK
31 March 2017 —E—tF=A=+—BHKRAK 1,736

The trading rights have been considered to have indefinite lives
because they are expected to contribute to the net cash flows
of the Group indefinitely, and are not amortised.

RIBBERAERERFY DREH
HAKEZFHRERE 2 BRI HER B -

REETHMRERERAF
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2017 2016

—E—tF —T-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T

Unlisted but quoted investment funds in BEBELTEEREREES EA
Hong Kong, at fair value (note a) FE (Ff5ta) 31,803 -
Unlisted equity investment, at cost (note b) FF_EMAERE - LA AGHE (MiFEb) 631,680 -
663,483 -

Notes:

The fair value of investment funds is based on quoted market
price in an active market at the end of the reporting period.

In November 2015, Freeman Securities Limited (“FSL”, which is
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) entered
into the promoters’ agreement with 14 co-promoters (the “Co-
Promoters”) pursuant to which the parties thereto conditionally
agreed to cooperate to set up a full-licensed securities company
in China (Shanghai) Pilot Free Trade Zone (the “Securities
Company”) under the framework of the Closer Economic
Partnership Arrangement between Mainland China and Hong
Kong (“CEPA™), and FSL conditionally agreed to invest
RMB350,000,000 in the Securities Company by way of
subscription of 350,000,000 shares of the Securities Company.

In December 2015, FSL entered into a supplemental agreement
with Co-Promoters to further invest RMB175,000,000 in the
Securities Company, by way of subscription of 175,000,000
shares of the Securities Company. The Group fully paid the
aggregate subscription price of RMB525,000,000 for
525,000,000 shares of Securities Company, representing 15% of
share capital thereof.

In October 2016, the Securities Company obtained a securities
and futures businesses license from the China Securities
Regulatory Commission and it has formally commenced business.
The securities and futures business license allows the Securities
Company to engage in securities broking, securities underwriting
and sponsoring, securities trading and security asset
management related business in China.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

W :

REESHRTEERRSHREZRT S
H) T 5 4R 18 ©

RZZE—hF+—A REZBHFARAA
(IRBFEH] BEARRZBE2ENE
AR BEI4ZERERA ([HERFERAD)
RN BERAGE Bt SHFBRGERE
(R ESEERELEBRECEBIE
B ZHE) ([CEPAIER TR E L& E
HESRABERASIERY —HEEREEE
ERF([BHERAF]) REBSHB KNG
[E &% B2 5350,000,000% 35 % A 7 BL
DR ESH A FRE AREE350,000,000
5o

RIZE—RAF+-A REEFHHEERE
BAFNL— OB rAHBE SRRE
175,000,0000% 7 % A A1 AR 13 1 7] 38 55 22
Rl — F R E AR¥175,000,0007T ° A
EEEBE MR HE525,000,0000% 5& %
ANEIRGD (HEREI5%IA) 2 AR08
8 AR #525,000,0007T °

R-Z—AE+A BHAAUTEES
EEERERGNG (MLB5HELEY
HAE)  WEERBE - (MEBEHE
EHHTE) SBHANTEFRRES
SO BHREERE BXALRE
BEETEAMER -



Notes: (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

As at 31 March 2017, the unlisted equity investment with a
carrying amount of HK$631,680,000 (31 March 2016: Nil) was
stated at cost less impairment because the range of reasonable
fair value estimates is so significant that the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that the fair value cannot be
measured reliably. The Group does not intend to dispose of them
in the near future.

During the year, the fair value loss in respect of the Group's
available-for sale investments recognised in other comprehensive
income amounted to approximately HK$1,497,000 (2016: gain
of HK$58,584,000). During the year, no reclassification of
cumulative gains was made from the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve to the consolidated statement of

MisE: (&)

(b)

(%)

RZE—+F=ZA=+—H EKEAEASEK
631,680,000 (ZE—R"F=ZA=+—
B :8) 8 3F BRI & R AR AR AR
EME FERRAFEAEGFTOHES
CRARRNBEERBEATEELAS
%Jr%ozliﬁ%@?ﬂi%m%&,ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁj%o

FR - REMEZEARABRNEEAEE
AHEEERENATEEENBEE
1,497,0000 (=T — XN F W mBH
58,584,0007T ) ° F NI & Rt Wz i Al
HHERESHREBET S EEGAEE
WARE - B AFRILELERERN ]

comprehensive income as there was no disposal of the Group's HEERE(ZZT - RF - HBE
available-for-sale investments during the year (2016: 80,601,0007T ) ©
approximately HK$80,601,000).
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Accounts receivable arising from the RBEEBKBEREE 2 BIRIRK:
ordinary course of business of:
- Dealing in securities: - BHEE:
Margin clients FREF 215,708 322,753
Clearing houses HEERT 5,963 -
Brokers ®a 906 -
— Insurance brokerage business —RER AL ETE 7,541 9,443
— Futures brokerage business —HIE 40 TS 186 4,017
230,304 336,213

REETHMRERERAF
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The settlement terms of accounts receivable attributable to the
dealing in securities transactions are two days after the trade
date except for the balances with margin clients and cash
clients which are repayable on demand. The trading terms with
customers of insurance brokerage businesses are mainly on
credit. The credit period for customers of insurance brokerage
businesses is generally 30 days, extending up to 90 days for
major customers. The settlement terms of accounts receivable
attributable to dealing in futures transactions are repayable on
demand.

An aged analysis of the accounts receivable as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the trade date, is as follows:

BRAIREPLRRAESEP ZHEHRARENRE
BN BHEBEXEBFEMN ZEYPIRFER
HARZAMEME BRBELEHE
?m* R EBARKREZAET —R

REEEEHEFPHNEEHR30
E ﬁix%ﬁmﬂﬁﬁé?ywﬁ e
BEEBEIG 2RISR RS EGRHRRAR

e
ZREE-

RBERRNEYURRERR S AR Z R
RTINS -

i
<

2017 2016

—E—+tF —E—REF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Within 90 days 90H A 230,304 335,982
Between 91 to 180 days 91£180H - 231
230,304 336,213

An aged analysis of the accounts receivable that are not
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as
follows:

b B 17 A5 7 118 51 3 R (B 2 W B AR AR
SR LN

2017 2016

—E—tF —E-RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Neither past due nor impaired AR HR B R RVE 230,304 332,182
Less than 1 month past due & B {E A LA A - 584
1 to 3 months past due w1 ZE31E A = 3,216
Over 3 months past due B HA3ME A LA = 231
230,304 336,213

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED




As at 31 March 2017, except for margin loans receivable of
HK$215,708,000 (2016: HK$322,753,000), which were
secured by underlying equity securities amounted to
approximately HK$2,012,954,000 (2016: HK$701,764,000),
the Group did not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over these balances.

Trading limits are set for customers. The Group seeks to
maintain tight control over its outstanding accounts receivable
in order to minimise the credit risk. Overdue balances are
regularly monitored by management.

Accounts receivable as at 31 March 2017 and 2016 related to a
number of independent clients that have a good track record
with the Group and were not impaired. Based on past
experience, the directors of the Company were of the opinion
that no provision for impairment was necessary in respect of
these balances as there had not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balances were still considered fully
recoverable as at 31 March 2017 and 2016.

R-_E—+E=ZA=+—HBH BBEE
215,708,000 (ZF —RNF: B
322,753,0007T) 2 EWWFF B E F A S RELY
75 #2,012,954,0007c ( ZF — RNF B
701,764,0007T ) 2 A8 B8 I AN 35 A VB 10 @
Sh AEBUWERZ S SR EAER
on 3k H A0S A 8 98 5 B o

EEFXBEERBRS -AKERNEHER
YiE iR R B ABEE
RERERE ERETHERARES-

R-E—tER-_F-R"F=ZA=+—H
ZRBRFS A TRAKREAE RIFER
RSk B E P - AL ERE - RIBBER
B ARBZERRA ARERERER-
E—tFER-_FT-AREF=ZA=T—"BHYAE
BAEBBANE  BAERDBER R EBK
B - 8B AR % FAERRE LR E B -

2017 2016
—E—+tHF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Loans receivable (note a) FEUWE K (MsEa) 226,899 12,730
Finance lease receivables (note b) e g & M E 508 (KisEb) 13,149 -
Factoring receivables (note c) JE U (RIBZRIA (Fi5Ec) 268,671 -
Impairment (note a) A (3Ea) = (2,000)
508,719 10,730

Less: balances due within one year included & : st ARBIEER —F NI 2
in current assets e (505,219) (9,356)
Non-current portion ERENE D 3,500 1,374

REETHMRERERAF
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Loans receivable represented receivables arising from the
provision of finance business of the Group, and bear
interest at rates ranging from 12% to 13% per annum
(2016: 12% to 48% per annum).

As at 31 March 2017, all of the loans receivable were
secured by personal guarantee by an independent third
party. As at 31 March 2016, except for a loan receivable
with a carrying amount of HK$3,317,000, which was
secured by the pledge of collateral or personal guarantee
by an independent third party, all of the loans receivable
were unsecured.

An aged analysis of loans receivable, determined based
on the age of the loans receivable since the effective
drawn down date of the loans, as at the end of the
reporting period is as follows:

FERERIE ARSI R & ST E
EZRRREB EBF1I2EEZ13E
(ZE—RF - EFF12EE48F )&
=

o

R-ZE—+FE=ZfA=+—H8 FAEE
WE SRR —RBTE=HIREAEA
BERER - R_Z—XREFZA=+—
B KERME(EE3,317,0007T 2 B
BRH BB ILEZ HRENERSR
g fE A B RIEIRIN - BT A B E k15
EIA o

RBERR RERERE ERER
TREX H H R 2 BR e B E 2 TR U E SR BR
eI

2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Loans receivable: FEWE K
Within 90 days 90HW 203,707 3,317
Between 91 to 180 days 91%180H 23,192 5,052
Between 181 days to one year 181HZE—F - 2,361
Over one year —F M E - 2,000
226,899 12,730

An aged analysis of the loans receivable that are not
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired as
at the end of the reporting period, based on the payment
due date, is as follows:

RBERR  RBBANKAAEZE
Yo B s (30 K 49 18 Bl 2 B B8 4R /= Rl
B) 2o :

2017 2016

—E—tF —E-REF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Neither past due nor impaired KEH B KRFE 226,899 10,730

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED




The movements in provision for impairment of loans

receivable are as follows:

R EFREREHESIT

2017 2016

ZE—+tF —E-RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT

At beginning of year RER 2,000 2,000
Reversal of impairment loss BB EEE (2,000) -
At 31 March R=RA=+—H - 2,000

As at 31 March 2016, included in the above provision for
impairment of loans receivable was a provision for an
individually impaired loan receivable of HK$2,000,000
with a carrying amount of HK$2,000,000. During the year
ended 31 March 2017, the reversal of provision of
impairment of loans receivable was included in the loss
on disposal of subsidiaries in the consolidated statement

of profit or loss.

Loans receivable that were neither past due nor impaired
for whom there was no recent history of default.

MR-ZE—RE=A=+—0 ik
WEFREREGRIERABEASE
2,000,000t Z AR RIEEKE 2
BB 2,000,000 BHEZE
—tFZAZ+—BIFE BEOE
WEFRERERZEABRERFTA
HEMRBARZEE-

REHIRARAE Z FEWE FOF R AT H
I 48 ¥6 R CER BO 18 A

REETHMRERERAF
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Notes to Financial Statements
Bt 7% 3 3} B &

Year ended 31 March 2017 #Z2 -F—+#F=HA=+—HIFE

18. LOANS, FINANCE LEASE AND FACTORING 1. Bk EF MEHEEREEREA

RECEIVABLES (continued) (#&)
(b) Finance lease receivables (b) EUmEMHERE
Minimum lease payments Present value of minimum lease
receivable payments receivable
W &R E RN EUERHAENHZRE
2017 2016 2017 2016
ZE-tfE  ZE-XF  ZE-tF TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BRI BETT
(note) (note)
(KtaE) (Bax)
Finance lease receivables EURERENERE:
comprise:
Within one year —5R -

In more than one year but not ~ —F A EETBBRF
more than five years

Less: Unearned finance W RRERBERERA

lease income

Present value of minimum lease ERSERENZZ

payments receivable RE -
Analysed as: RIN=E

2017 2016

ZB-tF i S

HK$'000 HK$'000

BETR BETT

Current finance lease receivables (receivable within 12 ENEifE B B E B

months) (AR 12{8 A RYER) -
Non-current finance lease receivables (receivable after JFENERfERI B E B (BN 12ARE R

12 months and within 24 months) 2418 A RYEL) -
Fixed-rate finance lease receivables RETF X EMERRERETE -

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED



Note:

The minimum lease payment receivable amounts as at 31 March
2017 are presented using the prevailing the People’s Bank of
China ("PBC") rate as at 31 March 2017.

Finance lease receivables that were neither past due nor
impaired related to a number of diversified borrowers for

B2

REZ—+F=A=+—HERREE
ENRERIONER T —tF=A
=t+t—BPEARRBIT(THEARR
THRMBITAEZHR -

KRBT ARRE 2 FE Y R & & 5K0R
HEZIRBRABR LHZEFE

whom there was no recent history of default. A EHE R S0 o
2017 2016
—E—+tHF —E-RF
Effective interest rates B =
Fixed-rate finance lease receivables REENEG B EKEE
HEFE 4.75% -

Interest rate of variable-rate finance lease receivable is
reset when there is a change of the prevailing PBC rate.

An aged analysis of factoring receivables, determined
based on the age of the factoring receivables since the
effective drawn down date of the loans, as at the end of
the reporting period is as follows:

0% BRI 318,40 A U B A TR R
2 PR AR B ARBITRITRRE
B EITRE -

EFRIREN A HE 2 BR e T 2 R MR

RB|ERR  RERRERAEBER
i'd
BRIERE DT

2017 2016
—E—+tHF —E-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Factoring receivables: JEWIRIZFRIE
Within 90 days 90H 110,494 -
Between 91 to 180 days 912 180H 95,037 -
Between 181 days to one year 181HE—F 63,140 -
268,671 -

REETHMRERERAF
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An aged analysis of the factoring receivables that are not
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired as
at the end of the reporting period, based on the payment
due date, is as follows:

R|BEHR LB HRAFEZE
YR I2 30IR (AR B R BB B
BAE) ZFREEDHTANT :

2017 2016

—E—+tF —E—RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Neither past due nor impaired R BTN ARR A 268,671 -

Factoring receivables that were neither past due nor
impaired related to a number of diversified borrowers for
whom there was no recent history of default.

Factoring receivables bear interest at rates ranging from
5% to 14% per annum.

AR 3BLHR IR AR (B Y FE UK IR 3 SRR I
BB T HA Y AR L Y % TTAL R R
}\ o

EWRIEBFRIBHMEN FBEFEE
14[E »

2017 2016

—E—tF —E-REF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T SR IT

Notes receivable FEWEE 1,200,000 -
Less: balances due within one year included 8 : st ARBEER —F R H 2

in current assets “hE ek (800,000) -

Non-current portion FERNHAES o 400,000 -

Balances represented three promissory notes in relation to the
disposal of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. These
promissory notes are with principal amount of HK$400,000,000
each, bear interest at 5% per annum and repayable in June 2017,
December 2017 and June 2018 respectively.

122 FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

B ABHEARR —B2ENE
NAM AL BT - ZEA K EE
ZERNZALEABEKAL00,000,000
T EREFS%TE DR EARZE
—tFAAZE—tF+ AR
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2017 2016

—E—+tF —E-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ok auiv

Non-current JEBNEA

Deposits (note) Ze (M) 17,695 633,422

Current B &7

Prepayments and deposits TN RIE Rige 8,590 64,836

Other receivables E i W R 25,698 4,077

34,288 68,913

The balance of other receivables is neither past due nor HEifERIB R AAREE B RFE K

impaired and the directors of the Company are of the opinion RAEERBZEHB B -

that the balance is fully recoverable.

Note: The balance as at 31 March 2016 included a cash deposit of Mizr: RZZ—REF=ZA=1+—Hz#&EH#heE
RMB525,000,000 (approximately HK$631,680,000) paid for the MEEBHFQR (RZE—RNFEMNAK
investment in the Securities Company which was established in Y)RENzcHE R AR
April 2016 (note 16). During the year, such balance was 525,000,0007T ( 49 7% #631,680,000
recegnised as an available-for-sale investment in the consolidated 7T) (Mi3E16) - A ZEBRNEE Y
statement of financial position. BRABEFERAITHELEERE -

2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT

Listed equity investments, at market value EMRERE  EHE 362,100 1,235,102

The investments as at 31 March 2017 and 2016 were classified RZE—tFR - R"F=-H=+—H

as held for trading. The Group's investments at fair value ZEREADBRFIEEERRR - RBEHR

VE SE A2 5L N AT il
through profit or loss with an aggregate carrying value at the ASKEBBRBADNFEIIRZRE 2K

4R E 4 A7BE341,544,0007T ( ZZ—7X
%78 %1,235,102,0007T) - 2 HEFEFE
TorE UERASEBEER 2 —IHIR
TEFR(ZE—RF BTFERAE) (K
£T25) o

end of the reporting period of approximately HK$341,544,000
(2016: HK$1,235,102,000) were pledged to certain financial
institutions to secure a bank loan (2016: certain margin
financing facilities) provided to the Group (note 25).
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At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
aggregate market value of listed securities held by the Group
as at 31 March 2017 was approximately HK$346,375,000
(2016: HK$1,075,654,000).

RAEZSUHEREAH AEER_Z
—tF=ZA=+—HBEBZLTESRZR
T E#) A7 #346,375,0007T (= F — X
& B #1,075,654,0007T ) °

2017 2016

—E—+F —ET—REF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Cash and bank balances Be RIRTTHE 614,918 208,988

As at 31 March 2017, except for the balances of HK$942,000 and
HK$97,000 which are denominated in Renminbi and United
States dollar, respectively, all the cash and bank balances of the
Group were denominated in functional currency. As at 31
March 2016, all the cash and bank balances of the Group were
denominated in functional currency.

Certain cash at banks of the Group earns interest at floating
rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The carrying amounts
of the cash and bank balances approximate to their fair values.

The Group maintains trust accounts with authorised institutions
in respect of clients’ monies arising from the course of
securities brokerage, futures brokerage and insurance
brokerage businesses. As at 31 March 2017, HK$108,404,000
(2016: HK$30,489,000) was held by the Group on behalf of
the clients in the trust accounts. The client monies as at 31
March 2017 and 2016 were not included in the Group's cash
and bank balances.

The balances as at 31 March 2017, based on the trade date,
were all aged within 90 days (31 March 2016: 90 days).

Other payables and accruals as at 31 March 2016 mainly
consisted of a deposit received of HK$150,000,000 in respect
of the disposal of Smart Jump Corporation and its subsidiaries
(the "Smart Jump Group”).

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

R-_E—+E=ZA=+—HBH BBE
942,0007T N 4 #97,0007T 2 4 4 7 BIl A
ARERETHEN AEENMRERS
RRITHEBUANEEEFE KT —<
FZA=1T—H AKBENMBERS KR
THEHBUATI e B FTE -

AEERRTZETREREFHRTE
R FILF PRI R -BE RIRITHE
ZEHEREEAFERSE

AEBRERERBRITERE BN
REHEL PEELRRRELBRESD
EXYZ2EFRBE-R_ZT—+t&=A
=+ —H AEEREEFPRAEERFE
A #108,404,0000T (Z T — /R F B
30,489,0007L) * R E—+F R -_T—X
FZA=-T—HAMNEPRIELETALE
Bl 2Re RRITHE

—E—+F=ZA=+—8" %ﬁi%aﬁ
EWMEBR IR BB (ZE—XNE=
HE+ H:90H)R-

%

il

RZT—A"F=ZA=+—HBZHEMEMNK
BREFERAEZERER LS Smart Jump
Corporation X E I B2 7] ([ Smart Jumpfe
® ) B Wiz <& #%150,000,0007T ©



Notes to Financial Statements

B 7% SR R M &
Year ended 31 March 2017 B Z2=F—+F=A=+—HI F&F
25. INTEREST-BEARING OTHER BORROWINGS 25. iR HEftifg &
2017 2016
“E-t% ZE-RE
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) p.a. Maturity HK$'000 (%) p.a. Maturity HK$'000
SFER FFER
FI%E (%) B BETT % (%) k= BETT
Current K
Bank borrowings RITEE
- secured (note (¢)) ~BHR (W) N/A N/A -
TiER TR
Other borrowings EhiEE
- secured (note (b)) —EHE (M) 724 On demand 71,378
RER
71,378
Non-current EHH
Other borrowings s
- secured (note (d)) —~E AR () N/A N/A -
TiER TiER
- unsecured (note (e)) —E5 A (e) 5 2022 10,000
—E-CF
- unsecured (note (f)) —EHR (W) N/A N/A -
TEA TER
10,000
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Analysed into: DT
Margin loans repayable on demand BREREEZAREN 71,378
Bank borrowings repayable within one year AR —FREEZRITEE -
Other borrowings repayable after two years ZBRNMERBERERNEE 2
but within five years HmEE -
Other borrowings repayable beyond five BERAFRERECHEHMESR
years 10,000
81,378
RESRAMBERERAF
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Notes:

Except for the secured other borrowing of approximately
HK$702,000,000 which is denominated in United States dollar,
all borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2017 and 2016 were
denominated in Hong Kong dollar.

At 31 March 2016, the Group’s margin loan borrowings of
HK$71,378,000 were secured by the Group’s listed investments
at fair value through profit or loss with an aggregate carrying
value of approximately HK$1,235,102,000.

In January 2017, the Company obtained a loan facility of
HK$200,000,000 with interest bearing at the Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR") plus 3.5% per annum,
repayable in January 2018, secured by certain investments at fair
value through profit or loss with an aggregate carrying value of
approximately HK$341,544,000 and guaranteed by Mr. Zhang
Yongdong (“Mr. Zhang"), a substantial shareholder of the
Company.

In March 2017, the Company obtained a loan facility of
US$90,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$702,000,000)
with interest bearing at rates ranging from 7.5% to 8.0% per
annum, repayable in March 2020, secured by the shares in the
capital of certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company and
guaranteed by Mr. Zhang and his spouse.

In June 2015, the Company issued an unsecured note with a
principal amount of HK$10,000,000 to an independent third
party, bearing interest at 5% per annum payable annually in
arrears. The note is repayable in June 2022.

In May 2016, the Company issued two unsecured notes with a
principal amount of HK$10,000,000 each to two independent
third parties with interest bearing at 5% per annum payable
annually in arrears. Both notes are repayable in May 2023.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

Wi :

P 4978 #6702,000,0007T 89 & 7 H 4 18
ENETHEN RZZE—LFR-F
—RFEZA=t+—H AEENFREEE
LAE M EHE -

R-ZB—RNEZA=+—8 2~£EZH
REZEEE71,378,000 L AKEE 42
B8R 1B 4978 %1,235,102,000t 2 & B 1B
HARNFET R LR E KT -

RZZ—tF— A ARAIREB—FBE
200,000,0007C 2 ER AL A + IR EBRITRIZE
e ([BBBITRERE]) MEFF35%T
BARZZE—NF—AEE NEERAE
#97515341,544,0007 T E TBBERIA QT
BEFIRZ AR WHAAREBRER
KA ([REE]ER.

RZZ—tF= A+ N2 F]E1590,000,0003
TC (A& R 4775 %702,000,0005T ) 2 B 7R Eh
B RN FEEIS%ES0% AR T
TFE=AEE BARRET2ANBAR
AR ZS FR AR (5 438 - S Ok o A I LB (B R
fRe

RZZE—RFXNA ANARA—BHEIE
= HETAEFEAE10,000,0007T 2 K
WERE  REFNRS%TE  BREFHR
XN RERER_E__FNAEE-

R-ZB—XNERA AABAMBEILS
=D RIEEIT RS A 10,000,0005T
ZRBEEREE A RBEFS% ER
BERARASIN ZEEBRENR-_T=_=F
HAEE-



The movements in deferred tax liability and assets during the BEEREEEREENFAZEHOT
year are as follows:

Temporary differences related
to unrealised fair value gains of
investments at fair value

through profit or loss
HEBEEUATETIR
ZREZARERATVERS

EHZERELSE
2017 2016
—E—+tHF —E-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
At beginning of year REH] (4,125) (42,289)
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated FRFtALABHEER ZELRKA
statement of profit or loss during the year  (Hf3£10)
(note 10) 4,057 38,164
Deferred tax liability at 31 March RZA=+—HZELEHREEE (68) (4,125)

Temporary differences related
to depreciation in excess of
related depreciation allowances

HEHAARITERE
NERRE O E5E
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT I
At beginning of year REH 119 152
Deferred tax charged to the consolidated HF AR BEGFEEBRR ZIELEFHIE
statement of profit or loss during the year  (Fff3£10)
(note 10) (119) (33)
Deferred tax assets at 31 March RZA=Z+—BZELEHEEE - 119

REETHMRERERAF
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At 31 March 2017, the Group had tax losses arising in Hong
Kong of approximately HK$1,537,184,000 (2016:
HK$1,372,175,000), subject to the agreement by the Hong Kong
Inland Revenue Department, that are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which
the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised at
the end of the reporting period in respect of these losses as they
have arisen in companies that have been loss-making for some
time or due to the unpredictability of future profit streams of
those companies, and accordingly, it is not considered probable
that taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses
can be utilised.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is payable for
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 awards. Deferred taxation has
not been provided for in the consolidated financial statements
in respect of temporary differences attributable to the
accumulated taxable profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting
to HK$11,015,000 as the Group is able to control the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

N_ZE—+FZA=+—H AEEEEE
EE 2 BIBEIEL A 5%1,537,184,0007T
— T — N ##1,372,175,0000T) (B
HEABBRAER) ZEHEBEBUER
HAEREEEBBZ AR Z R RER
WA AR BEEBE  ARE B
HAN KRBT ZE DR Z AR = F R
AR S KA e B FE R Bt m ) LA °] &) AR
2 HIEEBEE B RERRT EZ
EBEERREERIEEE -

BIEPBEMEMERE Bt ENEB AT

—EENF-A—HERRRANEMNME
IREI IS BENTEIORL o WERELR S MK
Ak AR BB B A Bl 2 RETFE R TR A FE AL
K E RS =588 511,015,000 R IE - R
FEeAEEEITHBEEFEEMNEE B
EA R A KRB AT e & B Bl BT s = & -

2017 2016
ZE—LF —E-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETT
Authorised: ET
5,000,000,000,000 (2016: 5,000,000,000,000) 5,000,000,000,0000% ( = Z — /<4
ordinary shares of HK$0.001 (2016: HK$0.001) 5,000,000,000,000% ) & % {8 75 #
each 0.0017C (ZZE—~F : B%0.0017T) 2
Liwk 5,000,000 5,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR:
14,324,137,300 (2016: 14,324,137,300) ordinary 14,324,137,3000% (=T — /< F
shares of HK$0.001 (2016: HK$0.001) each 14,324,137,3008% ) & R E (E5%0.001
TL(ZE—RF B%0.0017T) 2 Ll Mk 14,324 14,324

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED




A summary of the movements of the Company’s issued capital

ARBACHTRAMBEOEERZZHH

and share premium account is as follows: (N
Share
Number of premium
shares Issued account
in issue capital (note a) Total
BHEER
BRTROEE BETRA (HiEta) ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BT T
At 1 April 2015 R-_E—REMA—H 10,324,137,300 10,324 1,647,353 1,657,677
Issue of shares upon conversion of ~ RER AR K EEEEITHRH
convertible notes (note b) (Fi3EDb) 4,000,000,000 4,000 596,000 600,000
Share issue expenses (note b) B ETHS (D) - - (21,000) (21,000)
At 31 March 2016, 1 April 2016 and R=E—~E=A=+—H"
31 March 2017 ZE-RENA-AR
—E—+F=ZA=1—H 14,324,137,300 14,324 2,222,353 2,236,677

Notes:

Share issue expenses of HK$1,350,000, HK$42,000 and
HK$6,000,000, which were paid to a subsidiary of the Company
during the years ended 31 March 2010, 31 March 2014 and 31
March 2016, respectively, were eliminated in full at
consolidation. Such share issue expenses were deducted from the
share premium account balance of the Company.

In March 2016, the Company issued 4,000,000,000 new shares
with par value of HK$0.001 each at a conversion price of
HK$0.15 each upon conversion of convertible notes for a total
cash consideration of HK$600,000,000 (before convertible notes
placing expenses of HK$21,000,000).

GEE

(@) REDEE7TH LB %1,350,0000T 7B H
42,0007t 78 #6,000,0007T 2 72 Bl 72 &
EZFT-TF=-A=+—H —T—UF
—A=+—BEZZE—R"F=A=1+—H
IFFESINFARARZ —HWBAR B
RERERBEEE ZEROHBETHIZE
WARRARMD mERREREER Mk o

(b) RMZT—XRF= A  AAFRE LA
ZRFIEERETRIRG B0 15708T
4,000,000,000/% & X E{E % 0.0017T,2
R - 231 & K E A% 600,000,000
T(AMBRAUBREERRERABE
21,000,0007T) ©
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The share option scheme of the Company was approved and
adopted by the shareholders at the annual general meeting
held on 31 August 2012 (the “2012 Scheme”) with a term of
ten years commencing from 31 August 2012.

The primary purpose of the 2012 Scheme is to provide
participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company and to encourage participants to
work towards enhancing the value of the Company and its
shares for the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole. Further details of the 2012 Scheme were disclosed in
the Company’s circular dated 25 July 2012.

The categories of the participants under the 2012 Scheme are
any directors (including executive directors, non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors) of the
Company and its subsidiaries and employees of the Group and
any advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers,
agents, customers, business partners, joint venture business
partners, promoters, service providers to the Group whom the
board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) considers, in
its sole discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the
Group.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, make an offer to any
participant to take up share options. An offer is deemed to
have been accepted and a share option is deemed to have
been granted and accepted and shall take effect when the
duplicate of the offer letter comprising acceptance of the offer
duly signed by the grantee and the remittance of HK$1 by way
of consideration for the grant thereof is received by the
Company. Share options granted may be exercised during the
period as notified by the Board to each grantee at the time of
making the offer and shall be at any time from the date of
grant to the tenth anniversary thereof.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

R-E——FE N \A=+—HETHNKRERE
FRE b RERBEIBREMAARDF ERE
HFEI([ZE——F5E]) BT —=F
NB=Z+—HRBFT+EHBERAEARE
3 o

—E——FFENEEENARNEER
HARBARNREA R HE Ve E2
HERNBARRAREROZEE £
AR RERREESER T ——_F5
BME—THBERARGHHE AT
——FtA-t+RABMNBEKTERE-

BRIEBE-ZT——F58 28ABHNDHE
BARAREMNBRARZEMES (B
WITES FRTEERBUIFNTES)
ERAGEZEBEURARADESE ([ES
2 2ENERR/EAREELHBIEL
BRIZEMER #RA DHE AE
moEn K2 BEFP XBEH &E
NEEBEH  BIA KRGS ER -

EXer2RNBRERNEMN2EARSE
BEREEL - EAARREZOWME (HH
HERLABRALAREZANZ) BINE
Rt R L ERERARF LN ZREES
1718 - BH B BAR 1 O 5 4 N BB O
REEFCEL - EARER -EREZER
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HERTE TZBEASKRLBEHER
HEETEF I 2R



The total number of ordinary shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all share options granted under the 2012 Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company
(excluding share options lapsed) must not exceed 10% of the
total number of the Company's ordinary shares in issue on
respective adoption date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit").
Moreover, the maximum number of ordinary shares in respect
of which share options may be granted to each of the
participants (including both exercised and outstanding options)
under the 2012 Scheme in any 12-month period shall not
(when aggregated with any shares subject to any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company) exceed 1% of the
Company’s ordinary shares in issue. The Company may renew
the Scheme Mandate Limit at any time subject to prior
shareholders’ approval in general meeting and the Stock
Exchange granting listing of and permission to deal in the
Company’s shares to be issued upon exercise of options
pursuant to the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit.

The subscription price for shares on the exercise of share
options under the 2012 Scheme shall be determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion but in any event shall not be
less than the greatest of: (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange on the date on which a share option is
granted; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s share
as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the
date on which a share option is granted; and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company’s shares.

The Scheme Mandate Limit was refreshed to 68,827,582 shares
with par value of HK$0.01 each upon the approval of
shareholders at the Company’s annual general meeting on 28
August 2014. The total number of shares available for issue
under the 2012 Scheme was revised upon the completion of
the share subdivision in December 2014 to 688,275,820 shares
with par value of HK$0.001 each.

RIE-F - —F8IRARRTMEME
IRt MR HOAARERE (TREE
R IHE ) AT B A BT E B ALAR
g IAEREARSENKEAARAREE
BITEBERAEI0% ([FTEIRERRE]) -
O BREBE-T——F5E WMERT—E
AMERSE2EERHNBERE (BFEE
TERRTEBRBE)EENEBRES
218 (HAR A E b BB 8/ 1E
MR EEE)  TEBEEARARDHITE
BB EM1% - RIRR ARG ERE
HfE - DA R Bt S P HE /AR AR B R AT B AR
PREEE BB R BT L M BT AR B D
EWEER ARA AR BT8R
PREE -

RIE-T— —FF T EBBER KO
ZRBEHEZTSRNBEE HEME
AERTHAEERTIZRESE - ()R
X BB AU B HIAR R R IR B X P &
BEXMBZEHE: (DARBBRNDNE
EROBRERHAEE XA EBRMm
B REXRAT R FHRTE : Ri)Aa
B PEE-

KEREN—_ZE—NFNA=Z+NBBRAZ
RARRERBERG LIEE  FHEIRE
PR 2B /S B 37 268,827,5820% A% M (B B
0012t - RZE—WFE+ZAKRH
FHTERE  IBIE - — —F5r &7 3
112 IR0 B IER] £688,275,820x B %
B 5 #0.001 7T 2 %15 »
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THRE-ZT——FrralRbzBRER

The following share options were outstanding under the 2012

132

Scheme during the year: FNREARITE:
Number of share options**
EREgE
Granted ~ Exercised  Cancelled  Transfer Date Exercise
At during  durng  during  during At of grant of Exercise period of price of
Thoril theyear  theyear  theyear  theyear 31 March share options* share options ~ share options**
R K=A B
MA-B EMRE EMAR  EMEE  EREE =18 BRERLAE ERENRS fiftE
‘000 ‘000 000 000 000 000 HKS per share
i i i i i Th GRiEL
2016
i St
Directors
EE
In aggregate 23-4-2015 23-4-2015 to 22-4-2025
it - 200,000 - - - 200000  ZF-REMAZZA ZF-REMA-TZAZCECREBAZTCR 0.49
Weighted average exercise price HK$0.49 HK$0.49
METEAEE - ER0LT - - - R
Non-employees
B8
In aggregate 23-4-2015 23-4-2015 to 22-4-2025
it - 488,276 - - - 8216 ZE-REMACTEA CE-REMACTSAZCECREFRACTCA 0.49
Weighted average exercise price HK$0.49 HK$0.49
METHERE - b0 - - - R

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED



Notes to Financial Statements

March 2017.

B35 8 % M 2F
Year ended 31 March 2017 B Z=F—+F=FA=+—HIFZ

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 28. MR Rt & (=)

Number of share options**
BRERE

Granted  Exercised Cancelled  Transfer Date Exercise
At during  during  during  during At of grant of Exercise period of price of
1 April theyear  theyear theyear theyear 31 March share options* share options share options**
i =4 Bhe
MA-B EREE ERGR  EREE  ERER Z1-8 BRERLAS ERENRE fifgE
000 000 000 000 000 ‘000 HKS per share
R TR R R R TR BhEY

2017

R-tE

Director

£

In aggregate 23-4-2015 23-4-2015 to 22-4-2025

£ CR-IEMAZTZR CE-IEMACTZRECTCISMACTCA 049

Weighted average exercise price

NEFHIEE

Non-employees

b3

In aggregate 13-4-2015 23-4-2015 to 22-4-2025

it CE-REMACYZR CE-REMACTSAZCECREMACTCA 0.49

Weighted average exercise price

METHORE

* The vesting period of the share options was from the date of * UL SRERE 2 5B R B Rt =T
grant until the commencement of the exercise period. FHAIRB AL -

**  The exercise price and the number of the share options are o TR AT IR BT KA A RIRAE
subject to adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or HEmEO#e) b FERE 2 ITEE RS
other similar changes in the Company's share capital. BRI T

***  Transfer upon resignation of a director during the year ended 31 ek —REREREE-T—tF=A=+—H

IFFERHERE -

REERBMEERARLF
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On 23 April 2015, 200,000,000 and 488,275,820 share options
to subscribe for the ordinary shares in the capital of the
Company at an exercise price of HK$0.49 each were granted by
the Company to directors of the Company and non-employees
of the Group, respectively, under the 2012 Scheme.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during
the year ended 31 March 2016 was estimated as at the date of
grant, using the binomial model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were granted. The
values of share options calculated using the binomial model
were subject to certain fundamental limitations, due to the
subjective nature of and uncertainty relating to a number of
assumptions of the expected future performance input to the
model, and certain inherent limitations of the model itself. The
value of an option varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions. Any change to the variables used may
materially affect the estimation of the fair value of an option.

The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

Contractual life of options (years)
Exercise price (HK$ per share)
Dividend yield (%)

Historical volatility (%)

Risk-free interest rate (%)
Exercise multiple

Exit rate

The aggregate fair value of the share options granted was
HK$23,082,000 and was recognised as share option expense in
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2016.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

R-ZE—RFWNA —+=H AQARE=
T FHELRAARAREERAER
JE{E B % H200,000,00017 488,275,820
AR HE - LARREE AR R R IR AN 59 E 3@ A% -
HMITEEE®0.497T

REBEZE-_Z-—R"F=ZA=+—RHILFER
HONEREEBRE L XATE DR
BB — | R R E W E B AR
o B PR 1R R S 1 - BB R B (E R
RA-EARNGE WX ETERRSIART
R-mREXZTBMEER—RIBHAE
HARRRANBRROBALBAL THETE
M ARBARSTNETRER  BRENE
EXETIEBRIRNERTE -IERE
BB A HEREN A FEGTEKRE
R 2o

TRENZEAFRBZBASE:

BRESHFH (F) 10
TEE(FREE) 0.49
X E (%) -
U‘i;‘&ﬂ@(%) 87.08

% 1 % (%) 1.865
ﬁﬁfﬁ%{ 1.07
R = -

R EREZRRAFTERBE
23,082,000 REBE-_ZFT— X "F=A
T+ —AILFENGREPBERETER
AR -



As at 31 March 2017 and 2016, the Company had
688,275,820 share options outstanding under 2012 Scheme.
The exercise in full of the outstanding share options would,
under the present capital structure of the Company, result in
the issue of 688,275,820 additional ordinary shares of the
Company and additional share capital of approximately
HK$688,000 and share premium of approximately
HK$336,567,000 (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, the Company had 688,275,820 share options
outstanding under the 2012 Scheme, which represented
approximately 4.4% of the Company’s shares in issue as at
that date.

(@) The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity.

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i)  Share premium account

The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands. Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in share premium account are
distributable to shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed,
the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

R+ ER_E—RE=ZA=+—
H AR2RR_ZT—_F:&8ETH
688,275,820170 BE AR #E ) RT{E o IRIBEA LD
AIRABEAZRE WHARITEZERERE
2T A8 B INE17688,275,820/%
A BIE AR - FTIE AR AN % 688,0007T
T AR 5% 1B 4978 %336,567,0007T (K05
BITRS) °

RZEREUBEREREMEZ D 2D
RZE—ZF5rEIH T 688,275 8ZOT
RITE2ERE BHEREEAR TE%;%
TR #4.4% ©

(a) ALEEAHNEERBDNEIR
BB H BRI NG A BRE D
*Ko

(b) REEHMEERE®
(i) MeiEERR

BhaERNBAXYHAENS
RAEVERE -RERAEFS AT
BRI EERTNE S 2K
%ZIK"*TJ&% AR E R R

KBS B B N2 RS A B
NEBEEBBEREEDD
&7

REETHMRERERAF

135



136

(b)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the portion of the
grant date fair value of unexercised share options
granted to eligible participants that has been
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for share-based payments in note 2.4(s).

Warrant reserve

The warrant reserve represents the aggregate
consideration for the issue of 1,376,551,640 First
Warrants and 688,275,820 Second Warrants, both
of which were issued at HK$0.01 each on 26 June
2015. The First Warrants and Second Warrants
entitled the holders to subscribe for 1,376,551,640
and 688,275,820 ordinary shares at subscription
prices of HK$0.43 (adjusted: HK$0.382) and
HK$0.55 (adjusted: HK$0.489) each, respectively
during the period of two years commencing from
the date of issue. During the year, no warrant was
exercised.

Capital redemption reserve

In prior years, the Company repurchased its own
ordinary shares and those repurchased shares were
cancelled. The premium payable on repurchase was
charged against the share premium account and
transferred to the capital redemption reserve.

Distributable reserve

The distributable reserve arose from prior years
including:

(@) the Company effected a capital reorganisation
which involved (i) consolidation of shares; (ii)
capital reduction; and (iii) the application of
the credit arising from such reduction towards
the distributable reserve of the Company;

(b) deemed disposals of partial interests in
subsidiaries to non-controlling interests;

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

(b)

REHEENRE®N (&)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

B

BRERGBERTAERKSZR
EHARITE BN T B E
KA FEF - B BRI 5E2.4(s)
RO EERGTN ST
BRI -

R\ EERME B T
1,376,551,64017 & #t 72 B 4 &
12688,275,82017 58 — #HE R i
BZHERE WMLRREFER
TE-—FFENA-+HNBRE
#50.01 0877 - B 87T H HARRET
MERERN st RREBERE
THREBEEFESFE TIFEEA
TR IR RIBEE 04370 (£
A BE0.382L) MB K
0.557T (48 3% : B %0.4897T)
B ARE1,376,551,640M%
12688,275,820/x L@ - F A
BRI Z T -

B R

RBEFE ARRBEEESR
EER - FTRE A B B A8 o
118 B FE 1 A0 it (B B WA (0 )
BERTMG  YHEBEEEAED
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(@) ARBETEAEMR ¥
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IR

(b) R fRFIE AR it B
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(b)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

Distributable reserve (Continued)

(c) acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries
from non-controlling interests;

(d) a transfer from distributable reserve towards
the retained profits of the Company; and

(e) share of reserve of an associate.
Special reserve

The special reserve represents the difference
between the aggregate amount of the share capital
and share premium account of a company which
was the former holding company of the Group and
the nominal value of the Company's shares issued
pursuant to the group reorganisation in 1992.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the PRC regulations, all of the
Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are required to
transfer part of their profit after tax to the statutory
surplus reserve, which are non-distributable, before
profit distributions are made. The amounts of the
transfers are subject to the approval of the board of
directors of these companies in accordance with
their articles of association.

Available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve

The available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve
comprises the cumulative net change in the fair
value of available-for-sale financial assets held at the
end of each reporting period and is dealt with the
accounting policies in note 2.4(i).

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from translating
foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out in
note 2.4(v).

(b)

EOEENRE®N (&)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

Ao kiR (&)

(0 [RSFEBRBCRKBHEQ
ARV EESME R

(d) RAEDIRFEEBAKRR
AIRE RN K

(e) AE—FBERAFEE-
5 Bl e 18

Frhlf#wis —E R RSB
B 2B R A Z B AN B B
EBRHERE  BR— NN -FR
BEEEBABTHNARARTRN
M EE 2 FR R Z 58 -

B

RRPBEES  AEBETED
FiT 76 BB X )R AF & A 0 IR
Al AR BRI RS A B — B0 8
NEEBBGRHE ZEBTAD
k- BREBEAKZEARES
SIRREAAMEIZAMANILE -
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In September 2016, the Group entered into a conditional sale
and purchase agreement with two independent third parties
(the "Vendors”), pursuant to which the Vendors have agreed to
sell and the Group has agreed to acquire the entire issued
share capital of Elffey Finance Limited ("Elffey”) at a
consideration of HK$295,000,000 (the “Acquisition of Elffey”)
aiming to provide the Company with a good business
opportunity in the finance leasing and factoring development
in China, and allowing the Company the enhance the overall
competitiveness of the Group. Elffey and its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in finance leasing and factoring in the PRC.
The Acquisition of Elffey was completed on 19 October 2016.

The following table summaries the consideration paid for the
Acquisition of Elffey, the fair value of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at the acquisition date.

RZE—RFNLA AEBEEMEBILE
=F([BEF DL BERGEEHE
B B EREZNREAE%295,000,000
THEMALBEREKEN ERemE
RAaa ([MER])MEFE FHTRA
(BN ER])  BEARQRGERESR
BEEREHERREERNRITE#
HBHEBASEBIZREIERF N NERK
ENBARITEAFTENYERERERR
BEB WBVERENR=-_FE—X<F+A
+HBEK-

TR B B B LR A B - PR
BMEELAERAENREERHRORF
B

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

HK$'000
BT T
Consideration: RAE:
At acquisition date U B EA
Cash and bank balances B e MIRTTHE % 295,000
The fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and Friiis & E kTR EEENRIERH
liabilities assumed at the acquisition date were as MAFEET:
follows:
Plant and equipment T 5 B 5% A 230
Cash and bank balances B4 KIRTT4 8% 28,035
Factoring receivables JE WUR IR 5K TB 253,036
Finance lease receivables JE U @b & M E k08 19,399
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TEN A - e R E A E KGRI 403
Amount due from a related party FEW — % B E 77 5RIA 1,379
Tax payable FES IR (1,509)
Deferred income EEWA (2,408)
Accruals and other payables FEEHE A M E b fE T FOB (3,381)
295,184
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WHEEEL 2R MEFHE:
Cash consideration paid BENRERE (295,000)
Cash and cash equivalents balance acquired FIiER e RN FEWEH 28,035
(266,965)



During the period from the date of acquisition to the end of
the reporting period, Elffey contributed HK$6,644,000 to the
revenue of the Group and a profit of HK$1,311,000 to the
profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017. Had
the acquisition occurred on 1 April 2016, the revenue and loss
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017 would have
been HK$121,935,000 and HK$424,515,000 respectively. The
pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is
not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of
operation of the Group that actually would have achieved had
the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2016, nor is it
intended to be a projection of future results.

Acquisition related costs amounting to HK$615,000 have been
excluded from the consideration transferred and have been
recognised as administrative expenses in the current year in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The fair value and gross contractual amounts of factoring
receivables, finance lease receivables, and amount due from a
related party at the date of acquisition approximated their
carrying amounts and were expected to be fully recovered in
the future.

(i)  In December 2016, the Group completed the disposal
of the entire issued share capital in a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, Smart Jump Corporation, to
an independent third party, for a consideration of
HK$1,295,000,000. Smart Jump Group was principally
engaged in trading of securities. The net assets of the
Smart Jump Group being disposed of are as follows:

RWEB =R EHREHE VERAEE
EE—+E=ZA=+—HILEEXREH
B2 B BB 6,644,0007T A7 EE %
)& B A #1,311,0007T « fUk B =18
R-ZZE—RFNA—H#4 AEEHR
E_ET—+F=ZA=F+—BItFENKZE
NESE 15D R A7E#121,935,0007T M B
424,515,0007C - E B RHEER AR & -
VA —ERBMUBEBER_ZT—FNA
—HBEEZKABATAESETERERN
W REEE MW IET TR R R RE

=4
Fg

Uk B8 #E B8 A AR 78 5615,0000T B e Fr s a8
REFHR WERGABRIRTPERE
KEFITHAS -

JE IR I SRR - R R B B TH B R K R UK
BETRARKBRASNAFEREESD
THREHEREEMS  YBHARB&RE
[ -

() RZEBE—ARF+ZA Fr5ERE
KA— BB E = EREH
2 & WEB A A Smart Jump
Corporationz & &2 TR A -
K {8 /& 7% ¥1,295,000,0007T °
Smart JumpEBEEZEREFEFE
& o FTH &/ Smart Jump £ & 2

BEEFEOT:
2017
—E—+F
HK$'000
BT T
Net assets disposed of: I EEEFE:
Prepayments and other receivables T8 7 FRI8 o H Ath i W R IR 34
Investments at fair value through profit or loss BREZINAFEIEZEE 1,307,596
Cash and bank balances R e RIRTTH 6 87,065
Margin loans payable ERITFRER (253,614)
Accruals and other payables FEET B A I H th JE 1~ 5RIR (2)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note 5) HE— B A a2 e
(K7ES5) 153,921
1,295,000
Satisfied by EANWEY
Notes receivables (note) FEM =R (FMI5E) 1,295,000
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(i) (Continued) (i) (&)

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash HE-_FT—tF=H=+—H

equivalents during the year ended 31 March 2017 in FTFEFHEEE —HWERQR

respect of the disposal of a subsidiary was as MRS RReFEMRANFE
follows: DT

2017

—E—tHF

HK$'000

BT T

Cash consideration ReRE 95,000

Cash and bank balance disposed of BHERE MBITES (87,065)

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect BREIHE —RHMHBARNIRE &

of the disposal of a subsidiary ReFEMREANFRE 7,935
Note: The amount of the consideration was settled by the M RESEHEFBERETA
purchaser by issuing to the Group a promissory note & % & 7 #95,000,0007T K9

with principal amount of HK$95,000,000 and EHEB(ERZZ—RF
repayable in December 2016, and three promissory TZAEER) R=HAeEE
notes with principal amount of HK$400,000,000 A7 1400,000,0007T HY# 3
each, bear interest at 5% per annum and repayable ZRE (REF5%: 8 25l

in June 2017, December 2017 and June 2018, EAR_ZE—tF~A =%
respectively (note 19). —tFE+ZARZT-N\F

NAEE) XA (HFE19)
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(ii)

In July 2016, the Group completed the disposal of
the entire issued share capital in a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, First Call Limited, to an
independent third party, for a consideration of
HK$28,000,000. First Call Limited and its subsidiary
(the “First Call Group”) were principally engaged in
the provision of finance. The net assets of First Call
Group being disposed of are as follows:

(i RZZE—RFLH AEETK
M—2BIE=FEELREH
2 & BB A RlFirst Call Limited
ZEEBEITRA REAEE
28,000,0007T © First Call Limited
K HBKE QA ([First Callf
EFEREBRERE -FTHE
KIFirst CallsE B 2 & E FE W0

T

2017
—E—+tF
HK$'000
BT T

Net assets disposed of: FIEEEESE:
Prepayment and other receivables T8 7 I8 2 H Ath i W R IA 1
Loan receivables FE UL E 5K 29,755
Cash and bank balances Be RIBTTH 1,172
Accruals and other payables FEET B A I H th JE 1 5RR (12)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary (note 5) HE— B AR ZEE (MEs) (2,916)
28,000
Satisfied by cash R & =1+ 28,000

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash
equivalents during the year ended 31 March 2017 in

respect of the disposal of a subsidiary is as follows:

HE_Z—+F=A=+T—HLFEEH
HE—RHNBARNRERRSEEDR
NFBEAMWT

2017

—E—+F

HK$'000

BT T

Cash consideration BeRE 28,000

Cash and bank balance disposed of BHERE MIBITER (1,172)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect AL E—RHHBAFNES NI

of the disposal of a subsidiary SEEYRANFE 26,828

REETHMRERERAF
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Notes to Financial Statements
R EL

Year ended 31 March 2017 &2 —F—+ 5 F 2

31. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(b) For the year ended 31 March 2016

1. HEMB AR (2)
(b) BE-ZE—XRE=ZA=+—RHLEE
2016
—E-RF
Note HK$'000
B 5 BT T

Net assets disposed of:
Prepayments and other receivables
Cash and bank balances

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary

Satisfied by cash

EHEEEFRE:

TE A FRE I H A FE U FOE 700

e RIBITHER 20

HE—EHNBRARZER 6 (642)
78

LAZE & F 4 78

REE-Z— R "EFZA=1+—ALFE 68
E-BWHBRRAZRERBESEYRATE

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash
equivalents during the year ended 31 March 2016 in

respect of the disposal of a subsidiary is as follows: AT
2016
—E—RF
HK$'000
BT T
Cash consideration BeaNRE 78
Cash and bank balances disposed of BHERS LIETER (20)

ABRHE—MBRARZRERRESE
EWRAFRE 58

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect
of the disposal of a subsidiary
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During the year ended 31 March 2016, the consideration
for the acquisition of 6.5% equity interest in a subsidiary
of HK$100,513,000 was settled by offsetting an amount
due from the holding company of the acquiree.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the acquisition of
an available-for-sale investment of HK$22,966,000 was
settled by offsetting a prepayment made for a
subscription of rights shares in prior year.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the consideration
for the acquisition of an investment at fair value through
profit or loss of HK$24,477,000 was settled by offsetting
a prepayment made in prior year.

Details of the Group’s interest-bearing other borrowings, which
are secured by the assets of the Group, are included in notes
21 and 25 to these financial statements.

The Group leases staff quarters and office premises under
operating lease arrangements. The leases for the properties are
negotiated for terms of ranging from one to three years (2016:
one to two years).

The Group had total future minimum lease payments under the
non-cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:

(@ BE_ZT-—XRF=R=+—HIF
JE - Wi — R T /BB 2 B16.5 % ik i 2 X
B/ %100,513,0007T T35 i@ 1 55 FE
Yt W B 75 2 $ B R SRR T S A e

by BEZZ—XRF-ZA=+—HLF
ErlBEa@fEEIREBE
22,966,000 Ty BEENBAEFE
RBEHR RO IEL 2 BT FRIBEMm X
o

(0 HBEZZ—XR"FZA=+—HL1LHF
B WESBEEAAFEERZE
BERRBHER24,477,0007C T35 81K
HRBTFREEL 2BANRERX
ffo

AEBEZFRHEMER (UAAEEZEE
TR ) 2 IS BN % 5 I 75 R Y 721
K25 °

AEBREBELEMOLHBAEETIETER
MRS -MERE 2 HBALER AN T

REERETAIBEHE SO 2 KRR
HMEMRBBEZIHBERMT

2017 2016

—E—tF —E-RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Within one year —F R 29,116 5,068
In the second year to fifth year, inclusive —HFEFERF (REEEMT) 28,234 846
57,350 5,914
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The Group had the following capital commitments at the end

of the reporting period:

AEBERBEHRE AT EARARE:

2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T

Contracted, but not provided for: DET 4018 KRB -
Leasehold improvements HEMEEE 3,695 -
Furniture, fixtures and equipment R B R 505 -
Computer equipment EH R 1,097 -
5,297 -

(a) In addition to the transactions and arrangements detailed
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had
the following transactions with related parties during the

year:

() BZEMBRREMEDPAFFLZZ
P RZHIN NREBRAF K HRE

FHEUTRS:
2017 2016
—E—+tHF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Associate (including its subsidiaries):

Management fee (note)

il
e
pui3
— /I
=
E”’/f

Note: The management fee was received from a subsidiary of

an associate of the Group for management services

rendered. The fee was mutually agreed between the

Group and the entity.
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Notes to Financial Statements

7 3R 2R B =
Year ended 31 March 2017 #Z2=F—+F=A=+—HIFE&F
36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 36.AEAXH ()
(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the by AEEBXFZEEEABZHH:
Group:

2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ok v
Short-term employee benefits EHEEEN 4,714
Post-employment payments RRAEF 120
Equity-settled share option expense NEREEERE A 6,708

Total compensation paid to key BERMETEEREAB T 2 BEHH
management personnel 11,542
Further details of directors’ remuneration are included in EFFME—THFBERZENT

note 8 to these financial statements. WK MFES o
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Notes to Financial Statements
Bt 7% 3 3} B &

Year ended 31 March 2017 HZ2=ZF—++=HA=+—HIFEF

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 37. BB camMI A
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial R|ERR SR 22T A ZERE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as N
follows:
2017
—E—tF
Financial assets
TREE
Financial

assets at fair
value through
Available-  profit or loss

for-sale - held for Loans and
financial assets trading receivables Total
ERBEREN
ATEEIR
OHHE  ZEREE B3k
tREE  -FIFEE e R st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BETT BETR BETT

Available-for-sale investments L ERE

Accounts receivable JE AR R

Loans receivable ERER

Factoring receivables FE U IR I2 IR

Finance lease receivables EREERENE

Notes receivable EWEE

Financial assets included in prepayments, BERBEMZE L REM
deposits and other receivables [ERFE, SREE

Investments at fair value through profit or loss & 81825 A A TS8R 2 &

Cash and bank balances BeRBTHH
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Financial

liabilities at
amortised cost
REERARARZ
SRAasE
HK$'000
BT T
Accounts payable BT ER X 22,274
Financial liabilities included in other payables and BHEREMENKBEREAERZ SR
accruals afE 13,517
Interest-bearing other borrowings FFEEMEE 932,000
967,791
Financial
assets at fair
value through
Available-  profit or loss
for-sale - held for Loans and
financial assets trading receivables Total
EBER
WA TES R
AHEE 2E2mEE ERRK
tREE -RBIEEE FEW R IR ‘st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BB BETT BETT
Accounts receivable eI BE X - - 336,213 336,213
Loans receivable EWER - - 10,730 10,730
Financial assets included in prepayments, — BIEREMZE e REME
deposits and other receivables WHEz REE - - 69,213 69,213
Investments at fair value through profit or loss & BB A A TFEDIER 2 K E - 1,235,102 - 1,235,102
Cash and bank balances Be RETHEH - - 208,988 208,988
- 1,235,102 625,144 1,860,246

REETHMRERERAF
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 7% R % Bt &

Year ended 31 March 2017 #Z - ZE—+#=H=+—HI FF

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(Continued)

2016 (Continued)
ZE-RE(E)

Financial liabilities

N

37. BB Z&MI R (&)

cHMEE

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
REHEXERARZ
TREE
HK$'000
BT T
Accounts payable FET AR K 21,811

Financial liabilities included in other payables and BFRHEMEMNZBEREAERAZSHAEE
accruals 152,942
Interest-bearing other borrowings FFEHMEER 81,378
256,131

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED




38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 35 SRR MY RE

Year ended 31 March 2017 BZ=-F—+#F=A=+—HI FE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)

(b)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

3. EMITAZAFEHRLNFES

CEL

(a)

BRAFEITEZEHEERERE
DNFETREE
TRINKAEESRITAZ R FED
PRy

URFlEGFSEZEE -

Fair value measurement using

ERATREZRFENE

Quoted
prices
in active
markets
(Level 1)
ERMISHRE
(5-18)
HK$'000
BETT
As at 31 March 2017: R-E-t¥=A=t-A:
Available-for-sale investments AHREERE
Investments at fair value through ~ EBBHEUATEIRZ
profit or loss RE&
As at 31 March 2016: RZE—R"E=A=+—H:
Investments at fair value through ~ BBEZNATFEIEZ
profit or loss "E 1,235,102

Significant Significant
observable unobservable
inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EATER EATTEHE
WAZY BAZY
(5=2E) (£=E) Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB T BT BT T

- - 1,235,102

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured
at fair value as at 31 March 2017 and 2016.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets
and liabilities (2016: Nil).

Financial instruments not carried at fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost are not
materially different from their fair values as at 31 March
2017 and 2016.

(b)

RE—+FR - RNF=A
E+—E'$%Eﬁﬁﬁfi NEE
FArECERAE-

RER  E—BRE _ERIWEER
ERAFERFE TEA ""_Jﬁ'ﬁii;)&

KEHEMAFE(ZT—REF:
') -
WHERFEARZEZHMTA

RZE—tFRZZF—-—RF=H
=+ —H BRI EEK AR
AEEeHMTAEZREERENFE
WmEKZER -

RETRMMEZRERLAF
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The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing other borrowings and cash and bank balances. The
main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance
for the Group's operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as available-for-sale
investments, accounts receivable, loans receivable, factoring
receivables, finance lease receivables, notes receivable, financial
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables,
investments at fair value through profit or loss, accounts
payable and financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals, which mainly arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, equity price risk
and currency risk. Management reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks which are summarised below.

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to its interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities. Interest-
bearing financial assets are mainly bank deposits primarily at
floating interest rates which are mostly short-term in nature
whereas financial liabilities are certain other borrowings at
floating interest rates. The Group’s policy is to obtain the most
favourable interest rate available.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to loans receivable (note 18(a)), finance lease receivables (note
18(b)), factoring receivables (note 18(c)), notes receivable (note
19) and certain interest-bearing other borrowings (note 25).
Management considers the Group’s exposure to fair value
interest rate risk is not significant due to the short term
maturities of these instruments.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax (through the
impact on floating rate bank deposits, loans receivable and
other borrowings) and the Group's equity.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED

AEBZEESHITEAEFEHMEE
WIS RIRITEH 2SR IATER
EAANEEEESEEES AEEHES
HEMERMEELBE WEFERALE
PEEEEZAIHDERE  BUKER &
WEZR EBRREZIE BREBEHER
HEREE BREREMRE e kE
HERREZCREE BRERUAYFE
BHREE ENEREBEREME
NREREFERPZHAE-

ﬁE.ZQﬂIE%F$ZIEHﬁ%ﬂ

EERR - -RBESRR  BREE
TRJ—L &f‘f’r@g “”ﬁ.f@/ﬁia@xﬁﬂ
iR e M T B R .

AEEESEAG S EREENAEAH
MRERMNERR -FTEEHEETER
B MRS B2 RITER (KRB0 B
HEE) meRAER/AFBHEE
ZETHMEE -NEEZBRE EER
REBRE-

AEBEBEUEK (MFE18(a)) - BUKREE
MEFE (ME18(b)) ~ EURIZFIA (K
FE18(c)) W ERE (HFE19) K& T B
HiEE (ME25) miED FEN = mER -
ERER/ZLELAZ D HRMHE LR
REBHQRFEMERERTK -

THRIRAEEBBADEF, (FR) (&
FRBATER ERE R R
ST)RAREZ MEHAE 2 ARLATE

BT HEE EPBRAA LR NE



Decrease/

Increase/ (increase) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity*
Bahm RR B A& A R,
CRA)  ma (&) ORA) *
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
2017 —E—+tF
Hong Kong dollar ot 25 (225) —
Hong Kong dollar B B (25) 225 =
Decrease/
Increase/ (increase) Increase/
(decrease) in in loss (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity*
E2hgm, BRERIEE =g mS
CRA) Smd,/ () CR) *
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
2016 —E—REF
Hong Kong dollar ot 25 (67) -
Hong Kong dollar A R (25) 67 -
* Excluding retained profits * TEFERE & T

The Group’s major exposure to credit risk relates to accounts
receivable, loans receivable, factoring receivables, finance lease
receivables, notes receivable, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, cash and bank
balances and investments at fair value through profit or loss
arises from default of the counterparties, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.
The Group's accounts receivable, loans receivables, factoring
receivables and finance lease receivables arise from the
ordinary course of business of the Group and are closely
monitored by management on an ongoing basis. Further
quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from accounts receivable, loans receivable, factoring
receivables and finance lease receivables are disclosed in notes
17 and 18, respectively, to these financial statements.

The Group's liquidity risk is minimal in the current year and is
managed by matching the raising of loans or equity funding to
cover expected cash demands. The Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements
and its compliance with lending covenants to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and long term.

AEBRYHENELEZTEFZERKRE
FEURBR 3 - FEUR B 3 FE R IBFUIE ~ BN
BMERERE BREE BREEEMNR
B e REMERGFEFZEMEE R
©RIBITHEBREBBEURFETRZ
HEAH HERKEBRERZETAZE
FE - AE@EZEWER BURER Bl
REFENERBERMERBEAEE—
REBBRIPEL THEE BERD
ER -HEAEERRKER  BRER-
FEUWRBEFERENREBERERESIHRZ
EERBZE—FELEE DRHRZSE
B S SR R FE17 M 183K B -

AEERFAZRHESBREE L8
BERIBRARA BN AIRSBLME
B ARE Y BEAEBEERERAD
REE S B R R E KRN IR
G152 S GRS S RE 2 )
(RS ES
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The maturity profile of the financial liabilities as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted
payments, is as follows:

RBEEHR RABERAORBRGR
ZEIBBERMT

2017
—E—L+F
Within one One
year or on to five Over
demand years five years Total
—F R
RIRER —ZHF HEULE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETR BETR BT
Accounts payable JFE - BR X 22,274 = = 22,274
Financial liabilities included in other BIERE AR B R E
payables and accruals STERPZEmMAE 13,517 - - 13,517
Interest-bearing other borrowings EEMER 261,267 832,320 21,000 1,114,587
297,058 832,320 21,000 1,150,378
2016
—EF-RF
Within one One
year or on to five Over
demand years five years Total
—F AR
IR E K —E0F AFUE s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BB BETT BETT
Accounts payable JE 1~ BR K 21,811 - - 21,811
Financial liabilities included in other BIEREAENFIAR
payables and accruals EErERR @A E 152,942 - - 152,942
Interest-bearing other borrowings TEEMEE 73,167 2,000 10,614 85,781
247,920 2,000 10,614 260,534

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity and
investment funds decrease as a result of changes in the levels
of equity indices and the value of individual securities. The
Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from individual
equity investment and investment fund classified as held-for-
trading investments (note 21) and available-for-sale investments
(note 16). The Group's listed investments are listed on the
Stock Exchange and are valued at quoted market prices at the
end of the reporting period.

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED
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The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 5%
change in the fair values of the equity investments and
investment funds to which the Group has significant exposure
at the end of the reporting period, with all other variables held
constant and before any impact on tax. For the purpose of this
analysis, for the available-for-sale investments measured at fair
value, the impact was deemed to be on the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve and no account was given for
factors such as impairment which might impact the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

TRINTARENHFEMREAZEAR R
ZEBEERREES A FERSSE
5% ZBREE  BRMRMALMERER
N RRET RIE AR E - LA TN
FOHEAFEMENAHLEREZY
ERERUAREEREERREHR T
B WEFLAETESEBRERZBE
FHE-

Carrying Change in
amount of profit/(loss) Change
investments before tax in equity*
BRI AT
REZ wl/
FEHE (BB 28 BHEEZH*
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETT BT
2017 —E—+F
Investments listed in Hong Kong: REBETMZERE:
- held-for-trading ~REEE 362,100 18,105 =
Unlisted but quoted investment funds in Hong Kong, Z/& L TEEREZRERES
at fair value NS 31,803 - 1,590
2016 “E-RF
Investments listed in Hong Kong: REBLETZERE:
- held-for-trading -HEER 1,235,102 61,755 -

* Excluding retained profits

The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, management monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

The Group is exposed to currency risk, primarily with respect to
an interest-bearing borrowing with a principal amount of
US$90,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$702,000,000)
which is denominated in United States dollar. As Hong Kong
dollar is pegged to United States dollar, the foreign exchange
risk exposures are considered limited. The Group did not have
any financial Instruments used for hedging purpose.

* T EERE 4

REEWEINEENHEK - AT EREE
SONERR YHEAREREELHE
KON BB

AEFEKBEERK TEH R —FUE
JCEHE AN % %8 /590,000,000 7T (#HE #
#4975 #702,000,0007T) Z 5 BEEE - R
BB SE TN IMNERB IR BB - K
EEVECABRE TSI A

REETHMRERERAF
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The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to
any externally imposed capital requirements except for certain
subsidiaries engaged in the securities and futures broking
businesses and the provision of corporate finance advisory
services, which are regulated entities under the Hong Kong
Securities and Futures Commission (the “SFC”) and a
subsidiary, which is registered under the Hong Kong Insurance
Companies Ordinance (the “ICQO"), are required to comply with
the respective minimum capital requirements of the SFC and
the ICO. During the financial year, all the licensed subsidiaries
complied with the minimum capital requirements of the SFC
and the ICO respectively. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during
the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
interest-bearing other borrowings divided by the equity
attributable to owners of the Company. The gearing ratios as at
the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

AEEEAER T BARERELAEE
IRBRERNNRBBREZER L X
X FEEG R R R &R AEE-

AEEREKERR B MEHEEEZ
RBRFEEREERAEBYIEHBE S
B HBREAGERE NEEAEHAEIR
T FRERZEE  MRRRERARKET
Ml BREEFRPELLEHER
HEEREBEMRE 2E THE LR (9
RREERHZLAEEHERZES ([E
EeDREZER) UR—MBREEE
RE 2 REDI ([ RER 2 BRG] ) M2 M
BRR BANAEES MR ARG Z
REEARESIN  AEE L BRI B
MM EARRTE - RAFRFERN - AR
EHRBARENRETEERS MRIRA T
FHNREEARE - RBEE-T—LF
RZZE—RE=ZA=+—HBLFER K
SETEXNEEEAEERR BERRIZ
o

AEERABELXREEERN BELE
R BEMEBERURNQRHE AEIGHE
WAt E R BEHR AEEZEEL RN
™

2017 2016

—E—tF —E-RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BET T

Interest-bearing other borrowings FFEHMEER 932,000 81,378
Equity attributable to owners of the Company A2 al#E A A JE(h # 25 3,465,762 3,064,914
Gearing ratio BELE 26.9% 2.7%

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED




The following tables represent details of financial instruments THRZIATFTHRBE L EBMIAFE:
subject to offsetting:

217
ZE-F
Gross Net
amounts of amounts of
recognised financial  Related amounts not set off in the
financial assets  consolidated statement of financial
liabilities presented position
Gross et off in the in the PRNERHBRRBR LS
amounts of consolidated consolidated (LR
recognised  statement of statement Cash
financial finandial of finandial Finandial collateral
Asset EE assets position position instruments pledged Net amount
REGHBHRE  RERHERR
BEDEH FREHzDRE BREI2EHE 2R
EEAE  SRERE4E BERR SRIE REERD L
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETR  RETR BETR  BBTR BRTR #RTR

Accounts receivable FE 230,304 - 230,304 - - 230,304
Gross Net
amounts of amounts of
recognised financial  Related amounts not set off in the
finandial liabilities  Consolidated statement of financial
assets presented position
Gross et off in the in the PRRGRHBRRRRERL
amounts of consolidated consolidated EBSE
recognised  statement of statement Cash
financial financial of financial Financial collateral
Liability 8f liabilities position position instruments pledged Net amount
REREERR  REEHEMRR
BEASR BREECCER BRE2IIzER 2ER
BEAE  SHEELE BETE SRIA BERAY 7
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BETT AETT BETT BETT BT

Accounts payable Ef&ER 22,274 - 22,274 - - 22,274

REEMBMRERERAT 155
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Year ended 31 March 2017 &2 _—%

40. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 40. B EMEEREMAR 2
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continued)
2016
ZE-RE
Gross Net
amounts of amounts of
recogised financial  Related amounts not set off in the
financial assets consolidated statement of financial
liabilities presented position
Gross set off in the nthe  LEREAHBRAREEHZ
amounts of consolidated consolidated LR
recognised statement of statement Cash
financial financial of financial Financial collateral
Asset Bz assets position position instruments pledged Net amount
RERBBRR  RESHEAR
ERAeE BRAH/ERT BRE2IeE BER
BEEBE  cWEREES BERE SHTE BeEAn HE
HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETTL BETTL AETTL BETTL BETT
Accounts receivable ERER 336,213 - 336,213 - - 336,213
Gross Net
amounts of amounts of
recogised financial  Related amounts not set off in the
financial liabilities  Consolidated statement of financial
assets presented positon
Gross set off in the nte  LRMERABRARREHL
amounts of consolidated consolidated LR
recognised statement of statement Cash
financial financial of financial Financial collateral
Liability 8f liabilities position position instruments pledged Net amount
REalBRR  REaRERR
BEREE BREH/EER BREI ER BER
BREE  eRAELE BRAE SHTE ReEAn x|
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000
BB BB BETT BB BETT BB
Accounts payable R 21811 - 21,811 - - 21811

FREEMAN FINTECH CORPORATION LIMITED



Information about the statement of financial position of the

RBERRBEBEARAMBRAREKCE
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BT
2017 2016
—E—+tHF —E-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries REB AR 2”E = 24,360
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TET R -~ i K H e YRR 2,858 784
Due from subsidiaries FE LB B A R FIR 3,577,033 2,957,109
Cash and bank balances e RIRTT4 352,286 79,594
Total current assets mEEELE 3,932,177 3,037,487
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables and accruals HEi M FE N ETE R 5,117 1,145
Interest-bearing other borrowings AFEHEMEER 200,000 -
Total current liabilities B EARE 205,117 1,145
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 3,727,060 3,036,342
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES HEERRBERE 3,727,060 3,060,702
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY FRBEE
Interest-bearing other borrowings SFEHEMES 732,000 10,000
NET ASSETS EEFE 2,995,060 3,050,702
EQUITY e
Issued capital BT 14,324 14,324
Reserves & 2,980,736 3,036,378
Total equity B 2,995,060 3,050,702

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors of the
Company on 29 June 2017 and were signed on its behalf by:

Yang Haoying
g
Director

EBEF

HARREZEER _T—tHFA-1TAh
RHERRETE YA TALTRERAR

AREFEHE:

Wang Xiaodong
B2
Director

EF

REETHMRERERAF



Notes to Financial Statements

B # RR M RE
Year ended 31 March 2017 #Z=—F—+F=H=+—HIFF
41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF A1. EAFIMBRRAEE 2
THE COMPANY (Continued)
Note: B o
A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: RABEER RN T
Reserves
L
Retained
Share Capital profits/
premium  redemption  Contributed ~ Distributable ~ Shareholder's  Share option Warrant ~ (accumulated
account reserve surplus* reserve — contribution** reserve reserve loss) Total
B1EM BES BRE  AREZ  REEH/
i EER 1IN H#E  RELE- HE HE  (ZHER) i
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
i3 ABTr  BBTr  BMfr  BETrT A¥TRn B%Tn BBTn B%fr BETr
At 1 April 2015 R-F-TEMA-R 1,647,353 g5 WS SN 15000 - S 1M6TR 37361
Issue of equity-settled share ~ E/THEREE L
options BlE 28 - - - - - 23,08 - - 23,08
Issue of warrants EGEd B - - - - - - 20,648 - 20,648
Issue of shares upon conversion WE R AT A ZEEH
of convertible notes Rk 27(b) 596,000 - - - - - - - 596,000
Share ssue expenses RHEART (21,000 - - - - - - - 21,000
Loss and total comprehensive  ZEFEBR2EEE
loss for the year 48 - - - - - - - (1305613) (1305613

At 31 March 2016 and RIE-7E=A

1 Apil 2016 “+-BR-E-R
EMA-A
Loss and total comprehensive  AEEEBR2EHE
loss for the year 48
At 31 March 2017 R-E-tFZA
=t-A
* Contributed surplus * BB
The contributed surplus represented the difference between the A BBIEARRBITHRAEERLRAR
nominal value of the share capital issued by the Company and AR— AN ZFREBEEESHKENHE
the underlying net tangible asset value of subsidiaries which RAEINEBEE L EEFECBNERE-

were acquired by the Company pursuant to the group
reorganisation in 1992.

**  Shareholder’s contribution > REHE
This reserve represented capital contribution from the then FHEBATFERENIEAREERRR
shareholder upon acquisition of subsidiaries in prior years. B o
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Save as disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the
following significant events of the Group occurred after the
end of the reporting period:

(a)

In June 2017, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with the subscriber in relation to the subscription
of the convertible bonds of the Company under general
mandate for 1,835,294,118 conversion shares at conversion
price of HK$0.425 per conversion share (the “Subscription”).
The gross proceeds from the Subscription amounted to
approximately HK$780,000,000. As of the date of the
financial statements, the convertible bonds in the principal
amount of US$100,000,000 were issued by the Company to
the subscriber. The interest rate is 4% per annum payable
semi-annually in arrears. The convertible bonds are secured
by 30.0% of equity interest in Wins Finance Holdings Inc.
("Wins") upon the completion of acquisition of Wins or
alternative charged assets of the Group.

In June 2017, all First Warrants were exercised by the
warrant holders and 1,376,551,640 shares were issued at
an exercise price of HK$0.382 each. The net proceeds
from the issue of shares upon exercise of First Warrants
amounted to approximately HK$510,000,000.

BREZEVHREEMBTREEIN RE
KRG AEEBRLENTEERR:

(a)

RZZE—EFRA RRAIEREA
RN — R NAEBERE—
WIRERB AR ATRRES ik
EREDRERAD 04258
# 51,835,294, 118 8 #2 i 15 ([ 3R
BEEIE]) -REFENMSHRIBEARE
#) 7 #780,000,0007T ° 1A Bf 7 ) &
HE ARRMRBARITRESEA
100,000,000 7T & A #2 % & %5  FI
KETGFA% BEEFZFETEHF
B ok ESH AU IEWIns Finance
Holdings Inc. ([Wins |) 525X & Wins
#930.0% sk N B H IR E &=
A

RZZE—+tFRA B EHRKE
FHRBRREESFBEATE:
1,376,551,640 I (D 1R 1T F (B & /%
0382 BT N E LR
BEITEREITRO MG HRIEFE
#778#510,000,0007T °

REETHMRERERAF
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A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non- AEESAAEMBFEEZEEULEE AE
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as  NMIFHERER 2 M2 (FEFE O R EERE
extracted from the published audited financial statements and XV EY EFHE/EFHF2HGRERM
restated/reclassified/re-presented as appropriate, is set out below. TE))ETIAT o

Year ended 31 March
BE=ZHA=1T—HLFE
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
—E—+tF ZT-RF ZT—HF ZT-MOF ZT—=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AETT AT BETxT AEBETT

REVENUE = 108,285 (143,952) (14,976) 227,678 75,701
Profit/(loss) before tax BrREi RS A (E518) 408,195 (404,625) 462,387 480,082 329,214
Income tax credit/(expense)  Fri3FiE R (%) 10,013 27,159 (42,816) (2,746) (1,792)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FREH, (Bi8) 418,208 (377,466) 419,571 477,336 327,422
Attributable to: TH AT FEAS

Owners of the Company KAEER A 418,208 (620,996) 533,025 477,336 327,502
Non-controlling interests IR = = 243,530 (113,454) - (80)

418,208 (377,466) 419,571 477,336 327,422

As at 31 March
M=A=+—H
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
—Eg—+tF —T—FRF E—RHF —T—OF —FT—=
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETTT BETT ABTx AT BT

TOTAL ASSETS EEHAE 4,435,749 3,333,902 5,429,365 3,419,621 2,822,294
TOTAL LIABILITIES B EHEEE (969,987) (268,988)  (368,289)  (215,404)  (322,372)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS JE#E R fEZH = - (1,606,550) - -

3,465,762 3,064,914 3,454,526 3,204,217 2,499,922
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